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A. Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2023



MANAGEMENT REPORT 

In this annual report, references to “Globant”, “we”, “our”, “us” or the “Company” means Globant S.A. and its 
consolidated subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires, or where we make clear that such term refers only to 
Globant S.A. and not to its subsidiaries. 

CURRENCY PRESENTATION AND DEFINITIONS 

In this annual report references to currencies are defined in the following table:
 

"U.S. dollars" and "$" refer to the lawful currency of the United States
"Argentine pesos" refers to the lawful currency of the Republic of Argentina
"Colombian pesos" refers to the lawful currency of the Republic of Colombia
"Uruguayan pesos" refers to the lawful currency of the Republic of Uruguay
"Mexican pesos" refers to the lawful currency of Mexico
"Chilean pesos" refers to the lawful currency of Chile
"Rupees" or "Indian rupees" refer to the lawful currency of the Republic of India
"Reais" or "Brazilian Real" refer to the lawful currency of Brazil
"Peruvian Sol" refers to the lawful currency of Peru
"Euro" or "€" refer to the single currency of the participating member states of the European 

and Monetary Union of the Treaty Establishing the European Community, as 
amended from time to time

"Pound", "British Sterling pound" or "£" refer to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom
"Canadian dollars" refers to the lawful currency of Canada
"Saudi Riyal" refers to the lawful currency of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
"Australian dollars" refers to the lawful currency of the Commonwealth of Australia
"Danish Krone" refers to the lawful currency of Denmark

 
Unless otherwise specified or the context requires otherwise in this management report: 

 
• "IT" refers to information technology; 
• "ISO" means the International Organization for Standardization, which develops and publishes international standards 

in a variety of technologies and in the IT services sector; 
• "Attrition rate," during a specific period, refers to the ratio of IT professionals that voluntarily left our company during 

the period to the number of IT professionals that were on our payroll on the last day of the period; and 
• "Globers" refers to the employees that work for Globant. 

"GLOBANT" and its logo are our trademarks. Solely for convenience, we refer to our trademarks in this annual report 
without the TM and ® symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the 
fullest extent under applicable law, our rights to our trademarks. Other service marks, trademarks and trade names referred to in 
this annual report are the property of their respective owners. 

PRESENTATION OF INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA 
 

In this annual report, we rely on, and refer to, information regarding our business and the markets in which we operate 
and compete. The market data and certain economic and industry data and forecasts used in this annual report were obtained 
from International Data Corporation (“IDC”), Gartner, Inc. (“Gartner”), Forrester Research, Inc. and/or one of its affiliates 
(collectively, “Forrester”), internal surveys, market research, governmental and other publicly available information, 
independent industry publications and reports prepared by industry consultants. Industry publications, surveys and forecasts 
generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but that the 
accuracy and completeness of such information is not guaranteed. We believe that these industry publications, surveys and 
forecasts are reliable, but we have not independently verified them and cannot guarantee their accuracy or completeness.  



Certain market share information and other statements presented herein regarding our position relative to our 
competitors are not based on published statistical data or information obtained from independent third parties, but reflect our 
best estimates. We have based these estimates upon information obtained from our clients, trade and business organizations and 
associations and other contacts in the industries in which we operate. 

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This annual report includes forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited 
to, all statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this annual report, including, without limitation, those 
regarding our future financial position and results of operations, strategy, plans, objectives, goals and targets, future 
developments in the markets in which we operate or are seeking to operate or anticipated regulatory changes in the markets in 
which we operate or intend to operate. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as 
"aim", "anticipate", "believe", "continue", "could", "estimate", "expect", "forecast", "guidance", "intend", "may", "plan", 
"potential", "predict", "projected", "should" or "will" or the negative of such terms or other comparable terminology. 

 
You should carefully consider all the information in this annual report, including the information set forth under "Risk 

Factors."  

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on 
circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance 
and are based on numerous assumptions. Our actual results of operations, financial condition and the development of events 
may differ materially from (and be more negative than) those made in, or suggested by, the forward-looking statements. 
Readers should read "Risk Factors" in this annual report and the description of our business under "Business Overview" in this 
annual report for a more complete discussion of the factors that could affect us. 

We undertake no obligation to update, revise or receive any audit comfort for any forward-looking statement, whether 
as a result of new information, future events or developments or otherwise.

HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT OF THE COMPANY
 

We were founded in 2003 by Martín Migoya, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer; Guibert Englebienne, our 
President of Globant X, Globant Ventures and Latin America; Martín Umaran, our Chief Corporate Development Officer and 
President of EMEA; and Nestor Nocetti, our Executive Vice President of Corporate Affairs. Our founders' vision was to create 
a global company that succeeds by transforming organizations and providing opportunities for talent around the world to make 
a positive global impact. 

 
We have benefited from strong organic growth and have built a roster of world-class clients, many of which are at the 

forefront of emerging technologies. Over that same period, we have expanded our network of locations, and we are now present 
in 30 countries. In addition, we have garnered several awards and recognition from organizations such as Endeavor, the IDC 
MarketScape, Gartner, Everest Group, Frost & Sullivan, Global Services, Great Place to Work, the International Association of 
Outsourcing Professionals, Fortune and Fast Company, and we have been the subject of business-school case studies on 
entrepreneurship at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Harvard University and Stanford University in conjunction with 
the World Economic Forum. 

In 2009, we created our Studio Model. Our Studios have deep pockets of knowledge across industries and in the latest 
technologies and trends. We believe our Studio model helps us foster creativity and innovation while allowing us to build, 
enhance and consolidate expertise around a variety of emerging technologies. In order to leverage specific best practices and 
deliver tailored solutions to address our clients' technological challenges, Globant has transitioned its 39 Studios into four 
networks aimed at unlocking the full potential of client businesses.

• Reinvent Studios Network: Taylor businesses through deep industry and tech expertise (e.g., Healthcare & Life 
Sciences, Games, and Finance).

• Create Studios Network: Empower the uniqueness of  brands through remarkable experiences (e.g., Globant Create, 
Product, Commerce, Design, and Conversational Interfaces).

• Digital Studios Network: Harness disruptive technology to place business at the forefront of their industries (e.g., Data 
& AI, Cloud Ops, and Fast Code).

• Enterprise Studios Network: Leverage tailored technology for streamlined operations and productivity at scale (e.g., 
Salesforce, SAP, and Oracle). 

This Studio Model has been our trademark for delivering quality services over the years, allowing us to better serve 
our ever-evolving industry and assist our customers in transforming their organizations.



   
In July 2014, we closed the initial public offering of our common shares in the United States. Since then, we have 

closed five follow-on offerings in the United States, with the most recent offering occurring in May 2021. 

While our growth has primarily been organic, we have made complementary acquisitions since 2008. In 2022, we 
acquired Genexus, a low/no code leading platform to foster our product portfolio; Vertic, a digital marketing consultancy, to 
consolidate our global creative network; Sysdata, a leading business and technology consultancy, focused on delivering digital 
transformation, to strengthen our delivery capabilities in Italy; eWave, a digital commerce experience consultancy, with strong 
expertise in Adobe and Salesforce commerce solutions, to strengthen our delivery capabilities in Asia-Pacific; KTBO, a native 
digital company focused on reinventing businesses through innovative technological solutions; and Ad_bid, a digital media 
consultancy with rapid growth and a focus on results-oriented advertising for B2B and B2C organizations. Later in the same 
year, we reached an agreement with La Liga, Spain's top-flight soccer league, to create a new global technology company to 
lead the reinvention of the sports and entertainment industry. Then, in 2023, Globant expanded its North American footprint 
and enhanced its healthcare offering through the acquisition of ExperienceIT, a U.S. based consultancy with deep expertise in 
healthcare. Following this, Globant strengthened its presence in France and continued its European expansion by acquiring 
Pentalog, a digital transformation company that creates high-quality technology solutions and products for organizations in 
industries such as finance, sport, gaming, travel and education. Later in the same year, we acquired Iteris Holding Ltda., a 
Brazilian business and technology consultancy focused on delivering digital transformation, and a majority stake in GUT, an 
independent creative agency and the Independent Network of the Year award at Cannes Lions 2023. Globant will support 
GUT's global expansion and maintain GUT’s leadership team, as it continues to focus on building its culture and driving 
growth. Both companies will now work together to identify valuable cross-selling opportunities. Additionally, Globant 
completed the acquisition of a service contract in Italy from Chili Tech, the technological division of Chili Group.  

In 2019, we launched Be Kind, our long-term sustainability framework. Be Kind is an essential part of our culture in 
which we encourage everyone to be kind to themselves, their peers, the planet and humanity.

In 2021, we established Globant X, an incubator focused on nurturing and cultivating our homegrown innovation. 
Globant X aims to productize our most transformative technology into platforms.

In 2021, in connection with our Be Kind to the Planet commitment, we became carbon neutral and signed the Science-
Based Targets commitment to reinforce our mission to fight climate change. Our efforts to become a net-zero Company are 
aligned with our commitment to make the world a better place.

In 2020 and 2021, IDC MarketScape vendor assessments acknowledged Globant as a Worldwide Leader in CX 
Improvement and a Major Player in Worldwide Salesforce Implementation Services, respectively. Building on this success,  
Globant received additional accolades in 2022, including being recognized as a Major Contender in Industry 4.0 according to 
Everest Group, receiving the 2022 Company of the Year Award for Digital Transformation Services by Frost & Sullivan, and 
being named a Leader in the 2022 SPARK Matrix for Healthcare IT Services by Quadrant Knowledge Solutions. The 
recognition continued in 2023 as Globant was named a Worldwide Leader in both Artificial Intelligence Services and Software 
Engineering Services according to IDC MarketScape vendor assessments. Gartner's Magic Quadrant placed them as a 
Worldwide Challenger in Custom Software Development Services, while Everest Group identified them as a Major Contender 
in both Digital Transformation Consulting Services and Software Product Engineering Services. Additionally, IDC positioned 
Globant as a Major Player in Worldwide Experience Design & Build Services for 2023–2024.

Globant was recognized by S&P Global and Corporate Sustainability Assessment (CSA) in the Sustainability 
Yearbook 2023 for our ESG efforts during 2022. 

Also in 2022, Globant produced its first two commercial films: "Seek Reinvention" and "Meet the Future - 
Reinventing Consultancy." Also, the Company announced a multi-year partnership with FIFA to expand its FIFA+ content app 
and sponsor global top football competitions, including FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022, and FIFA Women's World Cup Australia 
& New Zealand 2023. 

During 2023, Globant was named as a Leader in the IDC MarketScape Worldwide Artificial Intelligence Services 
2023 Vendor Assessment. Also, Fortune named Globant in its list of the 100 Fastest-Growing Companies. In addition, Globant 
triumphed by winning the Google Cloud Industry Solution Services Partner of the Year Award for Media & Entertainment and 
received recognition as a finalist on Fast Company’s List of the 100 Best Workplaces for Innovators International 2023. Lastly, 
Globant has again been recognized by Brand Finance as the Fastest Growing IT Brand and the 5th strongest IT brand globally.

Globant was also recognized as one of the best places to work in Latin America with special recognitions for 
Argentina, Uruguay and Colombia where we ended in the top position, according to Great Place to Work. Also in 2022, Fast 
Company included Globant in its '100 Best Companies for Innovators' list.  











Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues was 25.6% for both 2023 and for 2022.  
 
Our selling, general and administrative expenses have increased primarily as a result of our expanding operations and 

the build-out of our senior and mid-level management teams to support our growth. We expect our selling, general and 
administrative expenses to continue to increase in absolute terms as our business expands. However, as a result of our 
management and infrastructure investments, we believe our platform is capable of supporting the expansion of our business 
without a proportionate increase in our selling, general and administrative expenses, resulting in gains in operating leverage. 

 
Depreciation and Amortization Expense (included in "Cost of Revenues" and "Selling, General and Administrative 
Expenses") 

 
Depreciation and amortization expense consists primarily of depreciation of our property and equipment (primarily 

leasehold improvements, servers and other equipment), depreciation of right-of-use assets (primarily office spaces and office  
equipment) and amortization of our intangible assets (mainly software licenses, acquired intangible assets and internal 
developments). We expect that depreciation and amortization expense will continue to increase as we open more delivery 
centers and client management locations. 

Net impairment losses on financial assets 
 
Net impairment losses on financial assets mainly include impairment of trade receivables, which represents an 

allowance for expected credit losses. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we recorded a loss of  $18.8 million 
and $6.4 million, respectively, related to the recognition of the allowance for expected credit losses.

The increase of the allowance for expected credit losses was mainly attributable to the impact of factors that are 
specific to debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of 
conditions at the reporting date. 

  
Finance Income 

 
Finance income consists of interest gains on time deposits, financed customers and savings accounts. The increase of 

finance income up to $4.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 
2022 was primarily attributable to accrued interests from savings accounts.

Finance Expense 
 
Finance expense includes the interests from borrowings, leases contracts, banking fees and other finance expenses. The 

increase of finance expense up to $23.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $16.6 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2022 was due to an increase in interest on lease liabilities and borrowings interests.

Other Financial Results, Net

Other financial results, net consists of foreign exchange gain or loss on monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
currencies other than the U.S. dollar, gain or loss on transactions with bonds, interest rate swaps, foreign exchange forward 
contracts and future contracts, mutual funds and T-Bills.  

Other financial results, net increased to a $11.3 million gain for the year ended December 31, 2023 from a $0.2 million 
gain for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily reflecting a foreign exchange loss of $22.0 million compared to a loss of 
$6.7 million in 2022, a gain of $23.6 million net related to gain from financial assets measured at fair value through profit or 
loss compared to a loss of  $7.5 million in 2022 and a gain on transactions with bonds of $9.2 million compared to a gain of 
$13.9 million in 2022.

Other Income and Expenses, Net 
 
Other income and expenses, net increased to a gain of $6.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from a loss 

of $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. Such increase is mainly explained by the remeasurement of contingent 
consideration related to the business combinations.









BUSINESS OVERVIEW 
 

Overview
 
Established in 2003 by four entrepreneurs in Argentina, we have evolved to become a leading global technology 

service provider. Today, we are a publicly-traded company, with our common shares listed on the NYSE under the ticker 
symbol "GLOB". We continue to maintain the entrepreneurial spirit of our founders throughout our business.

We were one of the first companies to deliver engineering, innovation and design at scale, and we believe that 
professional services organizations must evolve with technological advances. We have had success facilitating digital 
transformations while many traditional IT outsourcing vendors and consulting companies have and continue to struggle.

Our clients are facing an accelerated need to bridge their digital business gaps to better support their customers and 
employees. We leverage our cross-industry expertise and deep understanding of technology to focus on key areas of our clients' 
businesses to facilitate their digital transformations. 

We strive to make the world a better place and, in furtherance of that objective, we focus on three key areas: our Be 
Kind initiative, our talent and culture, and our services. We believe our focus on these areas has contributed to our success and 
our clients’ success.

We take pride in our people, and consider them to be our greatest strength. We are committed to growing our 
community with an emphasis on diversity and inclusion. We have development centers in North America, Latin America, 
Europe, Asia and Oceania, where we have established initiatives to promote and assist individuals who wish to join the IT 
industry. As of December 31, 2023, we had 29,150 Globers  worldwide, and operations through subsidiaries with offices and 
Globers in 30 countries.

Our principal operating subsidiaries are located in Argentina, Chile, Colombia, Brazil, India, Mexico, Italy, Moldova, 
Romania, Peru, Spain, United Kingdom, United States and Uruguay. 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, 59.5% of our revenues were generated by clients in North America, 22.1% in 
Latin America, 15.4%in EMEA  and 3.0% in Asia & Oceania.

Our clients include leading global companies such as The Walt Disney Company, which was among our top clients in 
the year ended December 31, 2023. Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2023, 89.6% of our revenues came from 
existing clients who used our services in the prior year. We believe our success in building our client base in one of the most 
sophisticated and competitive markets for IT services demonstrates the strength of our value proposition, the quality of our 
execution and the value of our culture of innovation and entrepreneurial spirit. 

The market opportunity 
 

Significant technological advancement and societal shifts are continuing to impact businesses. Technological spending 
is forecasted to increase as companies across various industries continue to invest in new innovations, such as AI and other 
technological advancements, expanding our total addressable market. Globant's service offering now encompasses sophisticated 
technology consultancy and digital solutions, breakthroughs in the creative industry, and a broad array of AI-based solutions. 
We believe we are well positioned  to take advantage of the fastest-growing areas of the technology sector.

Global IT service providers are equipped to support businesses during this transcendental time in technology, with 
offerings that include software development, technology consultancy, research and development and digital transformation. 
According to Gartner, worldwide spending on IT services is expected to reach $2.1 trillion over the next four years. 

Recent surveys from leading financial and consulting institutions also reflect that digital transformation continues to be 
at the forefront of company strategies, as CEOs and C-suite members continue to prioritize AI, cloud, digital transformation, 
analytics, and CRM and ERP applications, all of which are core to Globant's key competencies.

The use and development of AI is expanding. Gartner forecasts that the market for AI services will reach $443 billion 
by 2027. At Globant, we are already employing generative AI in our proprietary platforms to increase efficiencies for the 
Company and  our clients. We believe that AI will be the dominant growth driver in the IT services market.



Strategy 
 

We seek to maintain our status as a leading digital transformation services provider that leverages the latest 
technologies and methodologies to help organizations respond to the changing demands of their customers and employees. The 
key elements of our strategy for achieving this objective are, described below: 

 
Grow revenue with existing and new clients 

 
We will continue to focus on delivering innovative and high value-added solutions that drive revenues for our clients, 

thereby deepening our relationships and leading to additional revenue opportunities with them. We will continue to target new 
clients by leveraging our engineering, design and innovation capabilities and our deep understanding of emerging technologies 
and industries. We will focus on building our brand in order to further penetrate our existing and target markets where there is a 
strong demand for our knowledge and services. 

 
Remain at the forefront of emerging technologies and digital transformation 

 
We believe our Studios have been highly effective in enabling us to deliver innovative software solutions that leverage 

our deep domain expertise across industries, in emerging technologies and related market trends. As new technologies emerge 
and as market trends change, we will continue to add Studios to remain at the forefront of innovation and digital transformation, 
which will enable us to enter new markets and capture additional business opportunities.

   
Development of products and platforms

We will continue to focus on expanding our product and platform offerings to complement our service offerings. 
Globant X is the division of the Company focused on next-generation products and platforms that help organizations excel and 
reach their goals more efficiently. Acting as a guide for digital transformation, Globant X productizes ideas and accelerates 
from proof of concept to minimum viable product to expansion, catapulting them to in-market success.

Attract, train and retain top-quality talent 
 
We place a high priority on recruiting, training, and retaining employees, which we believe is integral to our continued 

ability to meet the challenges of the most complex software development assignments. In doing so, we seek to decentralize our 
delivery centers by opening centers in locations that may not have developed IT services markets but can provide professionals 
with the caliber of technical training and experience that we seek. In doing so, we offer highly attractive career opportunities to 
individuals who might otherwise have had to relocate to larger IT markets. We will continue to develop our scalable human 
capital platform by implementing resource planning and staffing systems and by attracting, training and developing high-quality 
professionals, strengthen our relationships with leading universities in different countries, and help universities better prepare 
graduates for work in our industry. We have agreements to teach, provide internships, and interact on various initiatives with 
several universities throughout the world.

Selectively pursue strategic acquisitions 
 
In building on our track record of successfully acquiring and integrating complementary companies, we will continue 

to selectively pursue strategic acquisition opportunities that deepen our relationships with key clients, extend our technology 
capabilities, broaden our service offerings and expand the geographic footprint of our delivery centers in order to enhance our 
ability to serve our clients.

Competitive Strengths 
 
We believe the following strengths differentiate Globant and create the foundation for continued rapid growth in 

revenues and profitability: 

Deep domain expertise across industries, in emerging technologies and related market trends 
 
We have deep domain expertise across industries, in emerging technologies and related market trends. We organize 

our areas of expertise in Studios, which we believe provide us with a strong competitive advantage and allow us to leverage 
prior experiences to deliver superior solutions to clients.



Long-term relationships with blue chip clients 

We have built a roster of blue chip clients such as Google, Electronic Arts, and The Walt Disney Company, many of 
which themselves are at the forefront of emerging technologies and with whom we have been working for more than ten years. 
We believe that our success in developing these client relationships reflects the innovative and high value-added services that 
we provide along with our ability to positively impact our clients' business. Our relationships with these enterprises provide us 
with an opportunity to access large IT, research and development and marketing budgets. These relationships have driven our 
growth and have enabled us to engage with new clients. 

 
Global delivery with access to deep talent pool 

A key element of our strategy is to expand our delivery footprint, including increasing the number of employees that 
work onsite at our clients or near client locations. We will continue to focus on expanding our global delivery footprint to gain 
access to additional pools of talent to effectively meet the demands of our clients.

Highly experienced management team 
 
Our management team is comprised of seasoned industry professionals with global experience. Our management sets 

the vision and strategic direction for Globant and drives our growth and entrepreneurial culture. On average, the members of 
our senior management team have 20 years of experience in the technology industry giving them a comprehensive 
understanding of the industry as well as insight into the industries in which our clients operate, emerging technologies and 
opportunities for strategic expansion. 

Our services

We deliver our services through our Studio model, Globant X, and our global autonomous culture, each of which is 
further described below. 

1. Our Studios:  

Our 39 studios are deep pockets of knowledge, bringing expertise to technologies and industries.  We utilize our 
Studio model to deliver tailored solutions focused on specific challenges and improving the connection between organizations 
and their customers and employees. Our Studios are categorized by the following four networks:  

1. Reinvent Studios Network: designed to focus on specific industries in order to assist our customers reconfigure their 
businesses, operations, and technology to respond to demands from customers and employees.

2. Digital Studios Network: focuses on developing business models and technical capabilities in the latest technologies 
and trends to help our customers with their digital transformation, digitizing processes, experiences, and their 
relationships with their stakeholders, among others. 

3. Enterprise Studios Network: combines Globant's knowledge and expertise in enterprise platforms such as 
Salesforce, SAP, and Oracle with its world-class technologies to drive process innovation, optimization, and customer 
value.

4. Create Studios Network: combines creativity, marketing, and media with AI, Data, and other cutting-edge 
technologies to develop full 360 marketing strategies. To bolster our services, in 2023 we acquired a majority stake in  
GUT, a leading creative global network, to leverage their unique expertise in brand storytelling and advertising.

Reinvent Studios Network:

Airlines: Enhancing passengers experience through digital innovation

We leverage our cross-industry expertise to drive digital transformation and boost business for our clients by putting 
the passenger experience at the forefront of all strategies.

Automotive: where mobility meets scale

Our experts and partners are creating cutting-edge solutions, scaling and enhancing customer experiences, leveraging 
AI for efficiency and boosting new business models. This Studio leverages opportunities in the automotive industry, including 



assisting companies with the implementation of autonomous driving, providing sustainable solutions across the value chain and 
helping original equipment manufacturers and mobility companies with the implementation of software architecture to create 
more efficient mobility solutions. 

Business Hacking: hacking the gap between business and technology

              We identify weaknesses in organizations and help companies reinvent those parts, stimulating growth and creating new 
revenue models along the way. Our unique framework leverages AI to drive growth and innovation, ensuring that the 
transformation is real and measurable.

EdTech: creating immersive learning experiences
  

This Studio helps to personalize digital transformation of learning and teaching those experiences with scalable 
technology solutions to build more robust, accessible, engaging, and compelling content throughout the entire learning cycle. 

Finance: driving innovation in financial institutions

This Studio leverages our in-depth expertise in the financial sector to deliver customized transformational programs 
tailored to our client’s needs, which boost new business models and enhance the experience of customers.

Gaming: Engaging through play  

Our Gaming Studio specializes in the design and development of world-class games and digital platforms, which work 
across console, PC, web, social and mobile channels. We enable our clients to leverage game mechanics by helping them 
develop a vision and execute an idea through production, launch and operation. In addition, we utilize our experience, creative 
talent, well-established technology frameworks and processes to scale and foster innovation.

Healthcare & Life Sciences: Reinventing the Life Sciences ecosystem through tangible technologically-driven solutions

Technology and life sciences are now intertwined. We aim to bridge the gap to help life sciences and healthcare 
organizations achieve their mission of delivering innovation and services faster and more efficiently by enabling them to 
enhance patient value and improve outcomes.

Media and Entertainment: Reach and engage new audiences   

With this Studio, we partner with our clients to build meaningful relationships with their customers by providing the 
most effective and relevant ways of creating, managing, delivering, and monetizing content. Specifically, we assist companies 
with their broadcast platforms, streaming capabilities, digital marketing and video quality.  

Retail: Transforming relationships and unlocking value

We boost innovation through digital retail solutions for full supply chain visibility and automation in tandem with 
creating phygital experiences that boost engagement for customers.  With this Studio, our clients are able to enhance their end-
to-end shopper experiences and leverage blockchain technology to ensure traceability of products, warehouse automation and 
planning of floor operations and delivery.

Smart Payments: empowering the future of payments
 

We provide strategic business and technical consultancy to help organizations analyze their payment programs, 
develop technical integration, and deliver experiences that are seamless, personalized, and engaging.

Sports: Top-tier technology for top-tier sports organizations

To outperform competitors on and off the field, sports organizations must maximize sponsorship value year after year, 
while still delivering a robust fan experience. We’ve partnered with some of the biggest names in sports, leveraging data, 
technology, and gaming to increase reach and build sustainable fan engagement, while increasing monetization opportunities. 
Specifically, we utilize technology to help our clients increase fan engagement, maximize their investment on sponsorship deals 
and reach and engage new audiences.



Hospitality & Leisure: Building experiences that create long lasting memories

Guests expect personalized, end-to-end digital interactions. We leverage the latest trends and technologies to help 
companies create a frictionless customer-first approach that delivers relevant and context-appropriate experiences to their 
guests. 

Sustainable Business: Reinventing business through climate action and sustainable tech

We are living through a time of unprecedented climate, societal, and technological change. Companies must develop 
forward-thinking and disruptive strategies, partnerships, and know-how to be ready and stay relevant in the new green 
economy. To do so, we provide our clients with sustainable tech strategies and programs.

Our Digital Studios Network:

Blockchain: Driving decentralized solutions

We design and build tailored decentralized and resilient solutions that boost strategic business value enabling 
efficiency, immutability and transparency.

CloudOps: Helping our customers embrace their cloud transformation journey 

By combining the best in cloud technologies, DevOps practices, and innovative capabilities we facilitate new and more 
efficient ways of doing business for our clients.

Cybersecurity: Building secure digital experiences

We help organizations create secure digital experiences by improving the maturity of software development processes. 
We have built proprietary security tools to enable businesses to gain better visibility into security risks and quickly take action 
when needed.

Data & AI: Discovering the real value of data 

Using Design Thinking methodologies, we partner with companies’ internal teams to discover, define, and build the 
best data products and data strategies to meet their business needs. Following agile methodologies, we evolve products and 
designs from early definitions to get them live in production, ensuring that throughout the process business stakeholders are 
involved and aligned with the final product.

Digital Experience Platforms: Leading consumer experience to intelligent digital journeys

This Studio focuses on crafting contextualized cross-channel experiences across customer digital journeys using 
seamless, personalized and scalable solutions.  

We help companies to find smart new ways to engage their consumers through innovative omnichannel delivery to bring their 
services and products to unknown spaces to them.

Digital Performance: Maximizing technology delivery

We reinvent how people, processes, and technology work together to maximize functionality and work product.

Fast Code: Move faster. Deliver value

We deliver value at a high rate by leveraging our set of flexible and ever-evolving platforms that accelerate software 
development. By improving time-to-value, we help our clients tackle present and future challenges. 

Internet of Things: Connecting the physical world  



We specialize in providing end-to-end solutions focusing on edge and IoT platform development. Our wide expertise 
in hardware integration and embedded software development that seamlessly merges into Cloud Platforms ecosystems blurs the 
boundaries between the physical and digital worlds.

We help our customers to develop new business opportunities and enhance existing products and services, bringing 
new ones to life. 

Metaverse: We open portals into the metaverse

The Metaverse Studio focuses on opening portals to digital spaces for our customers by providing a pipeline for digital 
twin generation and enhanced content production systems, resulting in a presence in the different virtual online worlds.  We 
help companies create and operate their new virtual spaces where they can extend their brand presence and product offering, 
which maximizes engagement with their clients and employees while reinventing their business verticals.

Quality Engineering: Enabling quality everywhere 

This Studio focuses on reducing our clients' business risks. We provide a comprehensive suite of innovative and robust 
testing services that ensure high-quality products to meet the needs of demanding, technology-avid users. 

Engineering: Empowering business with cutting-edge engineering

We design, build, and evolve world-class digital end-to-end solutions. From human interfaces design to scalable platforms, our 
full-stack capabilities unleash better and more personalized experiences for customers. We design digital foundations creating 
not just short-term gains, but long-term technological transformations that transcend digital.
 
 Our Enterprise Studios Network:

Agile Organizations: Enabling organizational evolution in the ever changing game of business

We’re constantly studying the art of adaptation and perfecting tools and tactics such as evidence base management, 
value stream flow, and adaptive strategy cycle, which help companies successfully navigate uncertainty. When an organization 
is primed for agile transformation it will reduce the lead-time required to change and increase flexibility to adapt to market 
disruptions. With this Studio, we offer strategic consulting services that help businesses adapt their organizational structure to 
maximize efficiencies, provide processes and structures for organizations to exploit existing, and explore new, value 
propositions, and offer practices and metrics that allow teams to improve and pursue high performance.  

AWS: Empower your business with Globant and Amazon Web Services

We combine our global presence, strategic partnership with Amazon Web Services, and deep understanding of cloud 
technology and business strategy to deliver innovative solutions that help our clients succeed. With a diverse portfolio of 
Studios, our complementary skill set ensures visionary solutions that pave the pathway to sustained competitiveness in a rapidly 
evolving market.

Cultural Hacking: Powering cultural transformations

We focus on crafting cultures of empowered and innovative people that help organizations reach their purpose and 
business goals.  We help our clients to define their cultural strategy, adopt new technologies and establish trainings, mentorship 
and coaching for management and employees.

Google Cloud: A new era in speed and agility for your business

With over two decades of experience leveraging cutting-edge technologies, Globant helps businesses stay ahead and 
ensures that its clients succeed in the cloud-first era and achieve their digital transformation goals.With our 360-degree 
partnership with Google Cloud, we have made significant investments in building a world-class talent pool across the platform, 
with capabilities spanning across multiple aspects of the Google Cloud product area. We enable organizations to transform their 
business, modernize their platforms, secure their workloads, and make data-driven decisions by leveraging the most out of 
Google Cloud Services.



Microsoft: Maximize your technology investments

Our partnership with Microsoft provides businesses with a trusted platform during this era of digital transformation. 
With Microsoft integration services in cloud transformation, advanced analytics and AI, IoT, and more, we empower 
organizations to navigate change and drive innovation, while maximizing their return-on-investment.

Oracle: Empower companies' end-to-end sustainable value chain

We help companies evolve the end-to-end value chain with Oracle applications, cloud platforms, and next generation 
technologies. With 20+ years of Oracle experience in global enterprise transformation combining business consulting, AI/ML-
enabled process transformation, organizational change management, and agile practices, we’re highly focused on assuring 
revenue streams, reducing costs, and optimizing operations.

Process Optimization: efficiency driven by technology

In a fast-changing market, businesses across the world are focusing on making their operations more efficient, 
adaptable and resilient to increase their return on investment. By partnering with our clients to drive efficiency through 
technology, we reduce risk by preparing operations against uncertain events. We support business reinvention starting from the 
core, enhancing operations and processes, and readying the foundation of the organization for transformation.

Salesforce: Your transformation journey begins here

Unleashing the power of data, AI and Salesforce we revolutionize business, ignite growth, and strengthen connections 
with customers, partners, and employees.

SAP: Accelerating value for enterprise-wide reinvention

Our extensive experience developing complex SAP projects help us deliver end-to-end business process 
transformation across an entire enterprise. Our SAP experts bring best practices in agile frameworks, enterprise-wide 
integration capabilities and the cutting-edge technology expertise required for business transformation.

ServiceNow: Reinventing digital experiences for employees, customers and partners 

We help clients leverage the full potential of the ServiceNow platform, helping them drive  efficiency, agility and 
innovation to unlock new levels of growth and performance. We work with clients to fully utilize ServiceNow’s robust  and 
unique capabilities, as well as extend its functionality through customization and configuration, to meet specific business needs 
and goals across IT, HR, customer experience, creative and beyond.

Our Create Studios Network:

Commerce: Reimagine Commerce with next-level digital omnichannel experiences

To increase and retain customers, companies must adapt quickly to changes in customer expectations and consistently 
deliver excellent omnichannel commerce experiences. The means to doing so is developing and maintaining a future-ready 
digital commerce ecosystem within the organization. With this Studio, we provide our clients with the necessary digital 
commerce strategies and solutions.

Conversational Interfaces: Humanizing the technology

Language and voice capabilities are some of the most powerful tools we’ve evolved for communication. Customers 
want to engage with businesses in a more human way, and our accelerators can make that possible.

Design: Gain attention for your business in the sea of sameness

The Design Studio focuses on bringing quality, design, strategy and production to worldwide digital challenges. We 
base the definition of our design on the evidence of consumer behavior and observation of market trends. We create solid and 
relevant solutions that appeal to both users and businesses.



Globant Create:  Reach the next era of growth elevating your media & creativity through the power of AI and cutting-edge 
marketing technology.

The Globant Create Studio develops 360º marketing strategies providing a full-funnel service that addresses every 
aspect of digital marketing: from strategy to engagement, from technology to creativity, from acquisition to loyalty, and from 
insights to meaningful experiences.

Product: Delivering best-in-class digital products

We help clients solve the right problems, delivering value for customers and client organizations from strategy through 
product delivery.

2. Globant X

Through Globant X, we produce ideas and accelerate transformative tech, taking products and platforms in different 
growth stages - from POC and MVP to Expansion - and catapulting them to market success. From coding faster, better and 
smarter, to constantly challenging and hacking businesses, we ignite growth potential through innovative technologies to act as 
accelerators, enhancers and solutions to specific problems and business needs.

Globant X’s lineup of platforms:

• Augoor - Our patented AI- driven platform that delivers an in-depth perspective of codebases. With code search, 
documentation and visualization, it simplifies the coding process, reduces the hurdles of understanding code, and 
boosts the developers’ efficiency.

• MagnifAI - Globant's AI-powered solution for software quality assurance that increases the efficiency of quality 
testing by leveraging generative AI and computer vision. From test cases creation and automation to visual testing 
validations, MagnifAI assists in providing for end-to-end software quality assurance.

• StarMeUp - Our behavioral-science-based, AI-enhanced platform that helps companies optimize their culture and 
create a sense of meaning and belonging at work to decrease attrition and increase employee productivity. 

• WaaSabi - Our Embedded Finance platform enables companies in any industry to possess fintech capabilities and 
unleash new revenue streams. From virtual wallets, to asset tokenization, including: cards, POS solutions and money 
transfers, companies can create any fintech product and launch it in a month. 

• Walmeric - Walmeric is a lead-to-revenue management product that helps B2C companies with assisted sales to reach 
their business objectives through accelerated sales and marketing, increasing their conversion rate and reducing their 
cost per acquisition.

• GeneXus - Is a Suite of AI Development Tools. The Software Development Platform powered by Artificial 
Intelligence that provides eternal youth for code. It simplifies and accelerates the creation, maintenance, and evolution 
of enterprise solutions by including Low Code, No Code, and Generative AI modules.

• GeneXus Enterprise AI - This platform is the foundation of AI applications that connects companies with all the 
large language models, building AI solutions that are future-proof and resilient to changes, and provides security and 
observability of costs, data and interactions. It unlocks the creation of robust AI-Assistants that can integrate and 
interact with operations, processes, systems and documents, creating new paths of innovation and productivity to 
explore.   

• Navigate - Navigate is a process optimization powerhouse. From business operations to incident management, 
Navigate is the ultimate control tower for a 360° view of an entire company with process mining and AI, revealing 
data-driven insights, finding opportunities of enhancements and efficiencies, and providing real-time predictive 
insights.

• BeHealthy - BeHealthy is an innovative white-label platform that promotes wellness and brand engagement through a 
configurable rewards program.

• FluentLab - FluentLab is an AI conversational and engagement solution that creates meaningful conversational 
experiences. It is also an AI-powered no-code for non-technical users.



3. Global autonomous culture:   

We have developed a software product design and development model, known as Agile Pods. It is designed to better 
align business and technology teams, driven by a culture of self-regulated teamwork and collaboration across skills, partners 
and country borders.

Leveraged across divisions, Agile Pods are dedicated to mature emerging technologies and market trends, and provide 
a constant influx of mature talent and solutions that create intellectual property for our clients. They are self-organized teams 
that work to meet creative and production goals, make technology decisions and reduce risk. These teams are fully responsible 
for creating solutions and building and sustaining features, products or platforms. Agile Pods are in constant contact with our 
clients and are in full control of the products we create, which augments their autonomy and ultimately propels productivity. 
We manage this by having the Agile Pods at the forefront of our inverted organizational chart, existing with a customer-centric 
and autonomous culture. 

We ensure consistency, accountability and replicability by having Agile Pods follow a well-defined set of maturity 
criteria. Maturity models describe levels of growth and development as follows: Maturity, Quality, Velocity, and Autonomy. 
Each level acts as a foundation for the next and lays out a path for learning and growth. As Agile Pods evolve from one level to 
the next, they are equipped with the understanding and tools to accomplish goals more effectively.

We have recently enhanced our Agile Pod methodology, achieving a significant milestone by certifying almost 100% 
of our pods in AI. By leveraging AI through our specialized suite of products, we have augmented our analytical prowess and 
accelerated decision-making, granting us a clear competitive advantage. Also, we have redesigned our people and staff areas to 
better support our pods, enhancing our agility, and enriching the quality and creativity of our solutions to increase 
responsiveness to client needs 

Associated metrics guide improvement efforts and generate quantitative and qualitative insights to inform iterative 
design and planning decisions. 

Our Delivery Model 
 
Our cultural affinity with our clients enables increased interaction that creates close client relationships, increased 

responsiveness and more efficient delivery of our solutions. As we grow and expand our organization, we will continue 
diversifying our footprint by expanding into additional locations globally.  

 
We believe our presence in many countries creates a key competitive advantage by allowing us to benefit from the 

abundance of high-quality talent in the region, cultural similarities and geographic proximity to our clients. 

Our talent and our culture

Our culture 
 
Our culture is the foundation that supports and facilitates our distinctive approach and advances our organization 

forward. It can be best described as entrepreneurial, flexible, sustainable and team-oriented, and is built on three main 
motivational pillars and nine core values. 

Our culture is built on three main motivational pillars and nine core values.
 

Our motivational pillars are: Autonomy, Mastery and Purpose. Through Autonomy, we empower Globers to take 
ownership of their client projects, professional development and careers. Mastery is about constant improvement, aiming for 
excellence and exceeding expectations. Finally, we believe that only by sharing a common Purpose will we build a company for 
the long-term that breaks from the status quo, is recognized as a leader in the delivery of innovative software solutions and 
creates value for our stakeholders. 

 
Our core values are: 

• Think Big – We believe that we can build a world-class company that provides Globers with a global career path. Our 
work is based on constant challenges and growth. 

• Drive Innovation – We confront every "impossible" and seek to innovate in order to break paradigms. 
• Excellence in Your Work – We know that problems we face now will reappear in future projects so we try to solve 



the obstacles that affect us today. 
• Team Player – We encourage Globers to get to know their colleagues and to support one another. Together, we are 

going to improve our profession, company and countries. We operate as one team whether it's solving a problem or 
celebrating excellent results. We also all have the right to be heard and respected. 

• Have Fun – As Globers, we believe in finding pleasure in our daily tasks, creating a pleasant work atmosphere and 
building friendships among colleagues.

• Be kind – This value represents our vision of doing business and conducting ourselves in an ethical manner, with 
integrity, and our responsibility to improve our society, transform ourselves through kindness and make the world a 
better place.

• Own the Place – Through our autonomy pillar, we empower Globers to embrace the entrepreneurial spirit. We are 
proactive, passionate doers, and committed to our goals.

• AI Hero - This value reflects the importance of AI at our company. AI is our edge and is at the core of many of our 
offerings. We believe AI will empower us to stay relevant and drive evolution.

• Cross-selling Hero - This value encourages different teams to collaborate, maximizing all of our services, platforms, 
Studio Networks and integrating partners and teams. With this cross-selling mindset, we build bridges and amplify the 
impact of our solutions. 

Our workplace embodies our culture

We reimagined and designed workplaces to enhance the overall work experience. We developed a new model office 
focused on where and how Globers want to work. 

Globant's offices are being reshaped to meet a social purpose, providing flexibility and a wide range of options. We 
want to provide employees with the ability  to work in different environments, feel comfortable in the way they work, and 
undergo a full workday without having to be in the same space constantly.  Experiencing the office also means developing 
Globant’s culture. We prioritize spaces where people can share, connect and exchange moments that would be difficult to 
experience if everyone was at home. We seek to consolidate a sense of belonging and continue to foster our core values.

Fostering employees’ career growth

Globers who are eager to grow, expand their knowledge, and discover new possibilities have a vast number of 
opportunities available to them at Globant. We want to empower them to make their own decisions and contributions to the 
company and make the most out of these five professional development dimensions: 

• Technology - Our 39 Studios consolidate experience in more than 100 emerging technologies and practices where 
Globers can learn, develop, specialize and stay relevant. We have numerous trainings and development opportunities 
that allow them to grow professionally. 

• Clients - We have a portfolio of leading global brands that Globers can work with over the course of their career. 
• Industries - We work with leading companies from different industries, such as media and entertainment; banks, 

financial services and insurance; and consumer, retail and manufacturing. This enables Globers to benefit from an in-
depth look into many industries and gives them the opportunity to specialize in one. 

• Specialty - Globers can transition their career, role or position. They can develop their career by gaining seniority in 
their current path or moving internally into other roles in different areas of expertise. 

• Geocultural diversity - We encourage Globers to seek new opportunities and embrace cultural exchanges. Our 
Globers can work on projects with people from diverse cultures and have the chance to live an international 
experience. We have open positions and relocation opportunities in all of the countries where we operate. 

Innovation 
 
Innovation and creativity, as fundamental values of our day-to-day, are consistently emphasized and embraced across 

our entire organization. 

Entrepreneurship 

Globant was created as a start up. It was built by entrepreneurs and, over the years, many Globers have made a 
difference by creating and driving innovation. Entrepreneurship is one of our keys to success, and we encourage Globers to 
dream and create meaningful and rewarding experiences for our customers. 



 We have our own accelerator for tech startups named Globant Ventures. The objective of Globant Ventures is to 
promote the emergence of new entrepreneurs that are involved in cutting-edge areas of technology, such as AI and other 
emerging trends.  

Availability of high-quality talent 
 
According to Revelo, since 2021, there have been 739,000 new tech graduates annually in Latin America. Moreover, 

in recent years, many Latin American countries have made significant investments in developing tech talent. With an increase 
in national and local innovation incentive programs and the expansion of technical universities, Latin America now boasts a 
growing and capable pool of talent for recruitment. As of 2022, N-iX estimates that the Latin America talent pool consists of 
almost 2 million professionals.  This labor pool remains relatively untapped compared to other regions such as North America, 
Central and Eastern Europe and Asia. The region's professionals possess a breadth of skills that is optimally suited for providing 
technology services at competitive rates. In addition, institutions of higher education in the region offer rigorous academic 
programs to develop professionals with technical expertise who are competitive on a global scale. Furthermore, Latin America 
has a significant number of individuals who speak multiple languages, including English, Spanish, Portuguese, Italian, German 
and French, providing a distinct advantage in delivering engineering, design and innovation services to key markets in the 
United States and Europe.  

India offers significant graduate talent. According to the Strategic Review of The National Association of Software 
and Services Companies (NASSCOM), the Indian IT-BPM Industry currently employs around 5.4 million people. In terms of 
students, more than 5 million students graduate every year, and almost 15% of these graduates are considered employable by 
Tier 1/Tier 2 companies. 

RISK FACTORS

The following summarizes the principal factors that make an investment in our company speculative or risky. The 
following factors could result in harm to our business, reputation, revenue, financial results, and prospects, among other 
impacts. The market price of our common shares could decline due to any of these risks and uncertainties, and you could lose 
all or part of your investment. The risks described below are those that we currently believe may materially affect us.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry  

• If we are unable to maintain the current resource utilization rates and productivity levels, our revenues, profit margins 
and results of operations may be adversely affected. 

• If we are unable to manage attrition and attract and retain highly-skilled IT professionals, our operating efficiency and 
productivity may decrease, and we may not have the necessary resources to maintain client relationships and expand 
our business. 

• If we are unable to achieve anticipated growth, our revenues, results of operations, business and prospects may be 
adversely affected.

• If we are unable to effectively manage the rapid growth of our business, our management personnel, systems and 
resources could face significant strains, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

• If the pricing structures we use for our client contracts are based on inaccurate expectations and assumptions regarding 
the cost and complexity of performing our work, our contracts could be unprofitable, which could adversely affect our 
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows from operations. 

• If we were to lose the services of our senior management team or other key employees, our business operations, 
competitive position, client relationships, revenues and results of operations may be adversely affected. 

• If we do not continue to innovate and remain at the forefront of emerging technologies and related market trends, we 
may lose clients and not remain competitive, which could cause our revenues and results of operations to suffer. 

• If any of our largest clients terminates, decreases the scope of, or fails to renew its business relationship or short-term 
contract with us, our revenues, business and results of operations may be adversely affected.  

• We are subject to numerous risks associated with the evolving market for products with AI capabilities.
• We face intense competition from technology and IT services providers, and an increase in competition, our inability 

to compete successfully, pricing pressures or loss of market share could materially adversely affect our revenues, 
results of operations and financial condition. 

• Our business depends on a strong brand and corporate reputation, and if we are not able to maintain and enhance our 
brand, our ability to expand our client base will be impaired and our business and operating results will be adversely 
affected. 

• Our labor costs and the operating restrictions that apply to us could increase as a result of collective bargaining 
negotiations and changes in labor laws and regulations, and disputes resulting in work stoppages, strikes, or 
disruptions could adversely affect our business.



• Our aspirations and disclosures related to environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) matters expose us to risks 
that could adversely affect our reputation and performance.

• Regulations and stakeholder expectations relating to ESG matters may impose additional costs and expose us to new 
risks.  

Risks Related to our Global Operations

• Our results of operations could be adversely affected by economic and political conditions globally and, in particular, 
in the markets in which we operate.

• The governments of many countries in which we operate have exercised and may continue to exercise significant 
influence over those countries' economies, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and prospects. 

• Inflation in the countries in which we operate could adversely affect our business and results of operations. 
• Our business, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected by fluctuations in currency 

exchange rates. 
• Changes in the tax laws or in the interpretation or enforcement or the loss of any country-specific tax benefits could 

have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. 
• Our business, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected by the various conflicting and/or 

onerous legal and regulatory obligations required in the countries where we operate.
 
Risks Related to the Company and the Ownership of Our Common Shares 

• The price of our common shares may be highly volatile. 
• We may be classified by the Internal Revenue Service as a "passive foreign investment company" (a "PFIC"), which 

may result in adverse tax consequences for U.S. investors.
• Our business and results of operations may be adversely affected by the increased strain on our resources from 

complying with the reporting, disclosure, and other requirements applicable to public companies in the United States.

STOCK INCENTIVE AND PURCHASE PLANS

 2014 Equity Incentive Plan

On July 3, 2014, our board of directors and shareholders approved and adopted our 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, which 
was amended on May 9, 2016, February 13, 2019, May 18, 2021 and June 8, 2022. Pursuant to the June 8, 2022 amendment 
adopted by our board of directors, we may issue stock awards up to an aggregate amount of 5,666,667 common shares under 
the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan. As of December 31, 2023, the number of common shares available for issuance pursuant to 
existing un-exercised and/or unvested and future stock awards was 2,365,114.  The following description of the plan is 
qualified in its entirety by the full text of the plan, which has been filed with the SEC as an exhibit to the registration statement 
previously filed in connection with our initial public offering and incorporated by reference herein.

 
We believe that the plan will promote our long-term growth and profitability by (i) providing key people with 

incentives to improve shareholder value and to contribute to our growth and financial success through their future services, and 
(ii) enabling us to attract, retain and reward the best-available personnel.  Selected employees, officers, directors and other 
individuals providing bona fide services to us or any of our affiliates, are eligible for awards under the plan.  The compensation 
committee, as administrator of the plan may also grant awards to individuals in connection with hiring, recruiting or otherwise 
before the date the individual first performs services; however, those awards will not become vested or exercisable before the 
date the individual first performs services.  The plan provides for grants of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted or 
unrestricted stock awards, performance awards, other stock-based awards and stock equivalent awards, or any combination of 
the foregoing.      

 
In the event of any transaction resulting in a “change in control” of us, outstanding stock options and other awards that 

are payable in or convertible into our common shares will terminate upon the effective time of the change in control unless 
provision is made in connection with the transaction for the continuation, assumption, or substitution of the awards by the 
surviving or successor entity or its parent. In the event of such termination, the holders of stock options and other awards under 
the plan will be permitted immediately before the change in control to exercise or convert all portions of such stock options or 
awards that are exercisable or convertible or which become exercisable or convertible upon or prior to the effective time of the 
change in control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a change in control, all awards, subject to certain exclusions, 
granted to certain senior executives will (a) become vested and payable in equal parts on each of the change in control 
completion date, and the 6th and 12th month anniversaries from such date, unless full payment is resolved by the administrator 



upon consummation of the change in control; (b) be paid and settled in cash immediately, if the senior executive is terminated 
without cause or resigns with good reason during the first year following the change in control completion date; and (c) become 
vested and settled in cash on the change in control completion date, if the executive is terminated without cause or resigned 
with good reason at any time from the date the Company was made aware of the potential change in control, and such change in 
control occurs within the 6 months following the executive's dismissal or resignation.

 
The plan will be effective until July 2, 2024.
 
From the date of the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan's adoption, we have granted to members of our senior management 

and certain other employees options to purchase common shares and restricted stock units ("RSUs"). On September 27, 2021, 
our compensation committee adopted and approved the granting of performance-based restricted stock units ("PRSUs"). Until 
2022, restricted stock units were granted between 40% and 50% in the form of PRSUs and between 50% and 60% in the form 
of RSUs, and from 2022 all PRSUs and RSUs are granted on a 50% basis each.

Each of our employee share options is exercisable for one of our common shares, and each of our RSUs and PRSUs 
will be settled, automatically upon its vesting, with one of our common shares. No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient 
upon receipt of an option, RSU or PRSU. Neither the options, nor the RSUs or PRSUs carry rights to dividends or voting rights. 
Options may be exercised at any time from the date of vesting to the date of their expiration (ten years after the grant date). 
Most RSUs and PRSUs under the plan were granted with a vesting period of four years, 25% becoming exercisable on or about 
each anniversary of the grant date. Share-based compensation expense for awards of equity instruments is determined based on 
the fair value of the awards as of the grant date. Fair value is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.  

Under the terms of our 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, from its adoption until December 31, 2023, we have granted to 
members of our senior management and certain other employees 30,000 stock awards, options to purchase 2,248,122 common 
shares and 2,584,777 RSUs and PRSUs, net of any cancelled and/or forfeited awards. 

In addition, on December 1, 2021, our compensation committee, as administrator, approved the granting of awards in 
the form of stock-equivalent units ("SEUs") and performance-based stock-equivalent units ("PSEUs") to be settled in cash or 
common shares, or a combination thereof, under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan. The purpose of the granting awards in the 
form of stock-equivalent units is to provide an incentive to attract, retain and reward talent in the IT industry and to prompt 
such persons to contribute to the growth and profitability of the Company. Eligible employees receive a grant of stock-
equivalent units with a unit value equal to the market value of one common share of the Company, to be settled in cash or 
common shares of the Company. 

Under the terms of our 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, until December 31, 2023 we have granted to eligible employees 
37,983 SEUs and PSEUs, net of any cancelled and/or forfeited awards. All stock-equivalent units were granted 50% in the form 
of PSEUs and 50% in the form of SEUs, each with a vesting period of four years, 25% becoming exercisable on or about each 
anniversary of the grant date.

There were 28,059 and 57,779 SEUs and PSEUs outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. For 
2023 and 2022, we recorded $2.3 million and $4.5 million of share-based compensation expense related to these stock-
equivalent units and we delivered 4,524 and 0 common shares, respectively.

There were 1,565,733, 1,636,554 and 1,223,449 stock options, RSUs and/or PRSUs outstanding as of December 31, 
2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. For 2023, 2022 and 2021, we recorded $72.5 million, $57.1 million and $42.4 million of 
share-based compensation expense related to these share option and restricted stock unit agreements, respectively.

2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On March 1, 2021, our board of directors adopted an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"). The purpose of the 
ESPP is to advance the interests of the Company and our shareholders by providing an incentive to attract, retain and reward 
our eligible employees and by motivating such persons to contribute to the growth and profitability of the Company. The ESPP 
provides such eligible employees with an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company through the purchase of 
the Company’s common shares payable by means of payroll deductions.

In the event of a change in control, an acquiring or successor corporation may assume the Company’s rights and 
obligations under outstanding purchase rights or substitute substantially equivalent purchase rights. If the acquiring or successor 
corporation does not assume or substitute for outstanding purchase rights, then the purchase date of the offering periods then in 
progress will be accelerated to a date prior to the change in control.



The ESPP will continue in effect until terminated by the administrator.

On March 12, 2021, the administrator approved the participation in the ESPP by several of the company's subsidiaries, 
pursuant to the following terms and conditions:

Eligibility. In addition to those employees excluded under the plan, trainees or college trainees and fixed-term 
employees will also be excluded from the plan.

Offering periods. Each offering period will have a 6 months duration; provided that in respect to Sistemas UK Limited, 
Sistemas Globales Uruguay S.A. and Difier S.A., their first offering period will have a 5 months duration, commencing on 
April 1st, 2021; and in respect of IAFH Global S.A., Sistemas Globales S.A., Globers S.A., Dynaflows S.A., Avanxo S.A., BSF 
S.A., Xappia S.R.L., Decision Support S.A. and Banking Solutions S.A., the offering periods will have 1 month duration, and 
shall reiterate every 3 months, starting on June 1st, 2021.

Purchase price. 90% of the common shares "fair market value" (as defined in the plan). The amount to be deducted 
from the compensation of the participant will be in rounded percentages of not less than 1% and not more than 10%, at the 
participant's discretion; provided that in respect of IAFH Global S.A., Sistemas Globales S.A., Globers S.A., Dynaflows S.A., 
Avanxo S.A., BSF S.A., Xappia S.R.L., Decision Support S.A. and Banking Solutions S.A., the amount to be deducted from 
the compensation of the participant will be in rounded percentages of not less than 1% and not more than 30%, at the 
participant's discretion.

In connection with the plan, the administrator approved the repurchase of up to 100,000 common shares, which 
number of common shares is automatically increased on the first day of each year for a period of ten years beginning on 2022, 
in an amount equal to the smallest of: (a) 0.5% of the number of common shares issued and outstanding on the immediately 
preceding 31 December or (b) 200,000 common shares; that as of the date of this annual report represents an aggregate of 
700,000 common shares. Until December 31, 2023, the administrator has repurchased 116,000 common shares, and has 
delivered 94,745 common shares under the plan.

SUBSIDIARIES AND BRANCHES

The following chart is a summary of our principal subsidiaries as of February 10, 2024. You may find complete 
information about all of our subsidiaries and their respective holdings in Exhibit 8.1.

As of December 31, 2023 the Company does not have any branches. 

SHARE CAPITAL 

We are a Luxembourg joint stock company (société anonyme) and our legal name is "Globant S.A." We were 
incorporated on December 10, 2012. We are registered with the Luxembourg Trade and Companies Register (Registre de 
Commerce et des Sociétés de Luxembourg) under number B 173 727 and have our registered office at 37A Avenue J.F. 
Kennedy, L-1855, Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.

The following is a summary of some of the terms of our common shares, based on our articles of association.
 



As of December 31, 2023, our issued share capital was $51,889,430.40, represented by 43,241,192 common shares 
with a nominal value of $1.20 each, of which 154,910  were treasury shares held by us. 

 
We had an authorized share capital, excluding the issued share capital, of $4,168,863.60, consisting of 3,474,053 

common shares with a nominal value of $1.20 each. 
 
Our shareholders' meeting has authorized our board of directors to issue common shares within the limits of the 

authorized share capital at such time and on such terms as our board of directors may decide during a period ending on the fifth 
anniversary of the extraordinary general meeting of shareholders held on April 19, 2023, which may be renewed. Accordingly, 
as of December 31, 2023, our board of directors may issue up to 3,474,053 common shares. 

 
Our authorized share capital is determined by our articles of association, as amended from time to time, and may be 

increased or reduced by amending the articles of association by a two-thirds majority of the vote at a quorate extraordinary 
general shareholders' meeting. Under Luxembourg law, our shareholders have no obligation to provide further capital to us. 

 
Under Luxembourg law, our shareholders benefit from a pre-emptive subscription right on the issuance of common 

shares for cash consideration. However, our shareholders have, in accordance with Luxembourg law authorized our board of 
directors to waive, suppress or limit, any pre-emptive subscription rights of shareholders provided by law to the extent our 
board of directors deems such waiver, suppression or limitation advisable for any issue or issues of common shares within the 
scope of our authorized share capital. Such common shares may be issued above, at or below market value as well as above, at 
or below nominal value by way of incorporation of available reserves (including premium). 

 
The transfer agent and registrar for our common shares is Equinity Trust Company LLC (formerly known as American 

Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC), with an address at 6201 15th Avenue Brooklyn, New York, NY 11219. 
 
Our common shares are listed on the NYSE under the symbol "GLOB". 

SHARE REPURCHASE

On May 31, 2019, the general meeting of shareholders of the Company granted our board of directors the authorization 
to repurchase a maximum number of our common shares representing 20% of our share capital.  Repurchase of shares are made 
from time to time in open market transactions in compliance with trading conditions on Rule 10b5-1 under the U.S. Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and applicable rules and regulations. The authorization does not require the Company to 
acquire any specific number or amount of shares.

On May 29, 2023 the Company entered into a 10b5-1 repurchase plan with HSBC Securities (USA), Inc., acting as 
agent for the Company, for the repurchase of an aggregate of up to 60,000 common shares. The 10b5-1 repurchase plan will 
expire on March 8, 2024.

Until December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased 42,500 shares, of which 48,130 have been applied to the ESPP. 
The outstanding treasury shares as of December 31, 2023 totaled 154,910, which represented 0.36% of the issued shares.

We perform repurchase of shares in order to facilitate the fulfillment of the deliveries under the ESPP and other 
releases under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND ANTI-BRIBERY MEASURES

We are committed with the compliance with all laws governing anti-bribery and anti-corruption activities, including all 
laws prohibiting improper payments, gifts or inducements of any kind to any person, including officials in the private or public 
sector, customers and suppliers. In 2015, we adopted an Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption policy aiming at ensuring full 
compliance by the company, its officers, directors, employees and agents with anti-corruption laws such as the U.S. Foreign 
Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 and any local anti-bribery or anti-corruption laws. In addition, on January 26, 
2022, we adopted a new Code of Ethics, which became effective on March 1, 2022, and introduced new important topics, 
including, among others, anti-money laundering provisions.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company has evaluated subsequent events until February 29, 2024, date of approval of these consolidated 
financial statements, to assess the need for potential adjustments or disclosures in these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IAS 10 "Events after the reporting period". The Company doesn't have any subsequent events to report. 
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Audit report

To the Shareholders of
GLOBANT S.A.

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial position of GLOBANT S.A. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) as 
at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

What we have audited

The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise:

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023;
 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
 the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information 

and other explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Law of 23 July 2016 on the audit profession (Law of 
23 July 2016) and with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as adopted for Luxembourg by the 
“Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier” (CSSF). Our responsibilities under the Law of 
23 July 2016 and ISAs as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF are further described in the 
“Responsibilities of the “Réviseur d’entreprises agréé” for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements” section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants, including International Independence Standards, issued by the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF together with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements. We have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities under those ethical requirements.

Other information 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information stated in the annual report including the management report but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our audit report thereon.
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and those charged with governance for the 
consolidated financial statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the European Union, 
and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends 
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Responsibilities of the “Réviseur d’entreprises agréé” for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an audit report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Law of 23 July 2016 and with ISAs as 
adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Law of 23 July 2016 and with ISAs as adopted for Luxembourg 
by the CSSF, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control;
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 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control;

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors;

 conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
audit report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our audit report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern;

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation;

 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate to them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions 
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

The management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and has been prepared 
in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Société coopérative
Represented by
@esig

@esig
Julien Melotte

Luxembourg, 26 March 2024



















The Company has adopted the following standards and interpretation that became applicable for annual periods commencing on 
or after January 1, 2023:

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice 
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 
arising from a Single Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12
International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model 
Rules

Those amendments did not have any material impact on the Company's accounting policies, apart from the ones already 
mentioned, and did not require retrospective adjustments.

• New accounting pronouncements

The Company has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet mandatorily effective:

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability1

1 Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025. Earlier application is permitted.

• On August 15, 2023 IASB issued 'Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21)' to specify when a currency is 
exchangeable and how to determine the exchange rate when it is not.

The management of the Company is currently assessing the impacts of the application of this amendment on the Company's 
consolidated financial statements. This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025. Earlier 
application is permitted. The Company has not opted for early application.

This amendment has not been endorsed by the EU yet.

The following standards and interpretation will become applicable for annual periods commencing on or after January 1, 2024:

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

On May 23, 2023, the IASB issued 'International Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules (Amendments to IAS 12)' providing a 
temporary exception to the requirements regarding deferred tax assets and liabilities related to pillar two income taxes. This 
amendment provides an exception rule that temporarily exempts the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes related to taxes 
arising from the taxation system on the pillar two model rules published by the Organization for Economic Co-operation and 
Development (OECD) (hereinafter, the “Pillar Two Income Taxes”). 

The Group has applied the aforementioned exception rule retroactively from fiscal year 2023 and has not recognized and 
disclosed the deferred taxes related to the Pillar Two Income Taxes (see note 9.3).  

On July 28, 2023, Luxembourg’s government council approved a new bill aiming to implement into Luxembourg law the 
“Pillar Two Directive”. It is expected that the Pillar Two Directive will be effective as from January 1, 2024.  Management is 
currently assessing the jurisdictions that could give rise to additional taxation and potential impact as a result of the 
implementation of the Pillar Two Model Rules in national laws.
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• On January 23, 2020, the IASB issued 'Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1)' 
providing a more general approach to the classification of liabilities under IAS 1 based on the contractual arrangements in 
place at the reporting date.
The management of the Company does not anticipate that the application of this amendment will have a material impact on the 
Company's consolidated financial statements. This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2024. Earlier application is permitted. The Company has not opted for early application.

• On September 22, 2022, IASB issued 'Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16)' specifying the 
requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the 
seller-lessee does not recognize any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.

The management of the Company does not anticipate that the application of this amendment will have a material impact on the 
Company's consolidated financial statements. This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2024. Earlier application is permitted. The Company has not opted for early application.

• On October 31, 2022, IASB issued 'Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1)' to clarify how 
conditions with which an entity must comply within twelve months after the reporting period affect the classification of a 
liability.

The management of the Company does not anticipate that the application of this amendment will have a material impact on the 
Company's consolidated financial statements. This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2024. Earlier application is permitted. The Company has not opted for early application.

• On May 25, 2023, the IASB issued 'Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7)' to require specific 
disclosure requirements about supplier finance arrangements.

The management of the Company does not anticipate that the application of this amendment will have a  material impact on the 
Company's consolidated financial statements. This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2024. Earlier application is permitted. The Company has not opted for early application.

2.2 – Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the 
Company and its consolidated subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the company has the power over the investee; exposure, 
or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and the ability to use its power over the investee to affect 
the amount of the returns. All intercompany transactions and balances between the Company and its subsidiaries have been 
eliminated in the consolidation process.

Non-controlling interest in the equity of consolidated subsidiaries is identified separately. Non-controlling interest consists of 
the amount of that interest at the date of the original business combination and the non-controlling share of changes in equity 
since the date of the consolidation. 

Acquired companies are accounted for under the acquisition method whereby they are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from their acquisition date.

NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
3.1 – Acquisitions

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business 
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of the assets transferred 
to the Company, liabilities incurred by the Company to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the 
Company in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related charges are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value, except that:
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• deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognized and 
measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively; and

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment 
arrangements of the Company entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in 
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in 
the acquired business, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquired business (if any) over 
the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the 
net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquired business and the fair value of the 
acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquired business (if any), the excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss 
as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net 
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate 
share of the recognized amounts of the acquired business identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a 
transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Company in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a 
contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as 
part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that 
qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. 
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the 'measurement 
period' (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition 
date. 

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement 
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as 
equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IFRS 3 
and IFRS 13, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Company's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured 
to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in profit or loss. Amounts arising from 
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognized in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

Arrangements that include remuneration of former owners of the acquiree for future services are excluded of the acquisitions 
and will be recognized as expense during the required service period.

3.2 – Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is carried at cost as established at the acquisition date of the business less 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to a unique cash generating 
unit (CGU).

Goodwill is not amortized and is reviewed for impairment at least annually or more frequently when there is an indication that 
the business may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the business is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the business and then to the other assets of the 
business pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the business. Any impairment loss for goodwill is 
recognized directly in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognized for 
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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The Company has not recognized any impairment loss in the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

3.3 – Revenue recognition

The Company generates revenue primarily from the provision of software development, testing, infrastructure management, 
application maintenance, outsourcing services, consultancy and Services over Platforms (SoP). SoP is a new concept for the 
services industry that aims to deliver digital journeys in more rapid manner providing specific platforms as a starting point and 
then customizing them to the specific need of the customers. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable. 

The Company’s services are performed under both time-and-material and fixed-price contracts. For revenues generated under 
time-and-material contracts, revenues are recognized as a single performance obligation satisfied over time, using an input 
method based on hours incurred. The majority of such revenues are billed on an hourly, daily or monthly basis whereby actual 
time is charged directly to the client.

The Company recognizes revenues from fixed-price contracts applying the input or output methods depending on the nature of 
the project and the agreement with the customer, recognizing revenue on the basis of the Company’s efforts to the satisfaction 
of the performance obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of the performance obligation, or 
recognizing revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value to the customer of the services transferred to date relative 
to the remaining services promised under the contract, respectively. Each method is applied according to the characteristics of 
each contract and client. The inputs and outputs are selected based on how faithfully they depict the Company's performance 
towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation.

These methods are followed where reasonably dependable estimates of revenues and costs can be made. Fixed-price projects 
generally correspond to short-term contracts. Some fixed-price contracts are recurring contracts that establish a fixed amount 
per month and do not require the Company to apply significant judgment in accounting for those types of contracts. In 
consequence, the use of estimates is only applicable for those contracts that are on-going at the year end and that are not 
recurring.

Reviews to these estimates may result in increases or decreases to revenues and income and are reflected in the consolidated 
financial statements in the periods in which they are first identified. If the estimates indicate that a contract loss will be incurred, 
a loss provision is recorded in the period in which the loss first becomes probable and reasonably estimable. Contract losses are 
determined to be the amount by which the estimated costs of the contract exceed the estimated total revenues that will be 
generated by the contract and are included in cost of revenues in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Contract 
losses for the periods presented in these consolidated financial statements were immaterial.

The Company provides hosted access to software applications for a license fee. The revenue from these licenses contracts is 
recognized at a point in time, given that the performance obligation is satisfied when the contract is signed by the customer and 
the Company. In some cases, as licenses resales, the Company acts as an agent because the performance obligation is to arrange 
for the service to be provided to the customer by another party (the owner of the software applications). Consequently, the 
revenue is measured as the amount of the commission, which is the net amount of consideration that the Company retains after 
paying the other party the consideration received in exchange for the services to be provided by that party.

3.4 – Leases  

The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which 
it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets (assets 
with a value of 5 or less when new). For these leases, the Company recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense on a 
straight line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present 
value of the following lease payments:

• fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable; 
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• variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate; 
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option. 

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the lessee's 
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an 
asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.

The Company remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right–of–use asset) 
whenever:

1. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the 
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.  

2. the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed 
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the 
initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a 
revised discount rate is used).  

3. a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease 
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.  

The Company made adjustments related to leases that are subject to changes in the consumer price index. As of December 31, 
2023 and 2022, such adjustments amounted to 2,553 and 1,762 respectively.

Right-of-use asset are measured at cost comprising the following: 
• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; 
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; 
• any initial direct costs and restoration costs. 

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Whenever the Company incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is 
located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is 
recognized and measured under IAS 37. The costs are included in the related right–of-use asset.  

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.  

The Company applies IAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any 
identified impairment loss as described in note 3.10. 

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense 
in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets with a value of 
5 or less when new. 

In determining the lease term, management considers all fact and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an 
extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options and periods after termination options are only included 
in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended or not terminated. The assessment is reviewed if a significant 
event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee. 

3.5 – Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company and most of its subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar, except for some subsidiaries where their 
functional currency is their respective local currency considering it is the primary economic environment in which the 
subsidiary operates.
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In preparing these consolidated financial statements, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency (“foreign 
currencies”) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting 
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items 
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are kept at the original translated cost. Exchange differences 
are recognized in profit and loss in the period in which they arise.

In the case of the subsidiaries with a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar, assets and liabilities are translated at current 
exchange closing rates at the date of that balance sheet, while income and expense are translated at the date of the transaction 
rate. The resulting foreign currency translation adjustment is recorded as a separate component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) in equity.

Accounting standards are applied on the assumption that the value of money (the unit of measurement) is constant over time. 
However, when the rate of inflation is no longer negligible, a number of issues arise impacting the true and fair nature of the 
accounts of entities that prepare their financial statements on a historical cost basis. To address such issues, entities apply IAS 
29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies from the beginning of the period in which the existence of 
hyperinflation is identified. Based on the statistics published on July 17, 2018, Argentina's economy started to be considered 
hyperinflationary. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the 3-year cumulative rate of inflation for consumer prices in Argentina 
is 816% and 300%, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company assessed that the effects of inflation are not 
material to the financial statements, since the most significant Argentine subsidiaries have the U.S. dollars as their functional 
currency, except for Globers S.A. 

3.6 – Borrowing costs

The Company does not have borrowings attributable to the construction or production of assets. All borrowing costs are 
recognized in profit and loss under finance loss.

3.7 – Taxation

3.7.1 – Income taxes – current and deferred

Income tax expense represents the estimated sum of income tax payable and deferred tax.

3.7.1.1 – Current income tax

The current income tax payable is the sum of the income tax determined in each taxable jurisdiction, in accordance with their 
respective income tax regimes.

Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income because taxable profit 
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in future years and it further excludes items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Company's liability for current income tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted as of the date of issuance. The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws in force 
in the countries in which the consolidated entities operate. 

Globant S.A, is subject to a corporate income tax rate of 17.0% on taxable income exceeding EUR 200, leading to an overall 
tax rate of 24.9% in Luxembourg (taking into account the solidarity surtax of 7.0% on the CIT rate, and including the 6.8% 
municipal business tax rate applicable).

The holding companies located in Spain elected to be included in the Spanish special tax regime for entities having substantially 
all of their operations outside of Spain, known as “Empresas Tenedoras de Valores en el Exterior” (“ETVE”). Globant España 
S.A was registered in 2008. Under the ETVE regime, dividends distributed from its foreign subsidiaries as well as any gain 
resulting from disposal are subject to 95% of tax exemption effective from January 1st, 2020. In order to be entitled to the 
benefit, among other requirements, the main activity of the entities must be the administration and management of equity 
instruments from non-Spanish entities and such entities must be subject to a tax regime similar to that applicable in Spain for 
non-ETVEs companies. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Spanish Holding companies received dividends distributions 
for 236,909 and 2,553, respectively. If this tax exemption would not apply partially, the applicable tax rate should be 25%. The 
Company´s Spanish subsidiaries are subject to a 25% corporate income tax rate.  
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Starting fiscal year 2021, Argentina has progressive system of corporate income tax rates ranging from 25% to  35% .

On May 22, 2019, the Argentine Congress enacted Law No. 27,506 ("Ley de Economía del Conocimiento"), which provides a 
promotional regime for the Knowledge Economy, which was modified by means of Law No. 27,570, published on October 26, 
2020 ("Knowledge based Economy Law").  The Knowledge based Economy Law is valid from January 1, 2020 until December 
31, 2029, and aims to promote economic activities that apply knowledge and digitization of information, supported by advances 
in science and technology, to obtain goods and services and improve processes. 

The beneficiaries of the regime will enjoy the following benefits: 
– Stability in the enjoyment of benefits.
– Beneficiaries who carry exports within the promoted activity, are not subject to any withholding and/or collection 
VAT regimes.
– A reduced corporate income tax rate applied to the promoted activities. The reduction is applied on the general tax 
rate as follows: (i) 60% for micro and small enterprises, (ii) 40% for medium-sized enterprises, and (iii) 20% for large 
enterprises.
– In addition, beneficiaries will be allowed to deduct as an expense, the withholding tax paid of foreign taxes, if the 
taxed income constitutes an Argentine source of income. 
– A non-transferable tax credit of up to 70% of amounts paid for certain social security taxes (contributions) for the 
employees associated with the promoted activities. The credit may be offset against value-added tax liabilities within 
24 months of its issuance. The credit will be increased to 80% to newly-onboarded employees if they comply with 
some specific considerations. 
- The beneficiaries that export at least 70% of its annual sales originated in the promoted activities, will be allowed to 
transfer for one time the credit, up to an amount equivalent to the percentage of exports for each period
–  A 0% rate of export duties applicable to the export of services promoted by the Law.

The entities Atix Labs S.RL., Decision Support S.A, BSF S.A , IAFH Global S.A and Sistemas Globales S.A., were approved 
as beneficiaries of the Knowledge Economic Law by the Subsecretary of Knowledge Economy.  

The Company’s Uruguayan subsidiary Sistemas Globales Uruguay S.A. is domiciled in a tax free zone and has an indefinite tax 
relief of 100% of the income tax rate and an exemption from VAT. 

3.7.1.2 – Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets including tax loss carry forwards are 
generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred assets and liabilities are not 
recognized if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than 
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting 
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except 
where the entities are able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with 
such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits 
against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. The 
carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is 
settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Company expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its 
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. The Company has not recorded any current or deferred income tax in 
other comprehensive income or equity in any each of the years presented, except for deferred income tax arising from the share-
based compensation plan, for the deferred income tax arising from hedge instruments and for the translation of deferred tax 
assets and liabilities arising from subsidiaries with functional currencies other than U.S. dollar.

Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the 
accounting for the business combination.

Under IFRS, deferred income tax assets (liabilities) are classified as non-current assets (liabilities).

3.7.1.3 – Uncertain tax treatments

The Company determines the accounting for tax position when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments as follows. First, 
the Company determines whether uncertain tax positions are assessed separately or as a group; and then, the Company assesses 
whether it is probable that a tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be used, by an entity in its 
income tax filings. If yes, the Company determines its accounting tax position consistently with the tax treatment used or 
planned to be used in its income tax filings. If not, the Company reflects the effect of uncertainty in determining its accounting 
tax position using either the most likely amount or the expected value method. The Company discloses in note to the 
consolidated financial statements certain matters related to the interpretation of income tax laws for which there is a possibility 
that a loss may have been incurred.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there are certain matters related to the interpretation of income tax laws for which there is a 
possibility that a loss may have been incurred (assessed as not probable), as of the date of the financial statements in accordance 
with IFRIC 23 in an amount of 4,544 and 5,119, related to assessments for the fiscal years 2017 to 2023 and 2016 to 2022, 
respectively. No formal claim has been made for fiscal years within the statute of limitation by Tax authorities in any of the 
mentioned matters, however those years are still subject to audit and claims may be asserted in the future. 

3.8 – Property and equipment

Fixed assets are valued at acquisition cost, net of the related accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if 
any. 

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over their useful lives, 
using the straight-line method.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the 
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Lands and properties under construction are carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Properties under construction 
are classified to the appropriate categories of property and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation 
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. Land is 
not depreciated.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise 
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment 
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or 
loss. As of December 31, 2023, and 2022 the Company has derecognized property and equipment for an amount of 574 and 
101, respectively..
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The value of fixed assets, taken as a whole, does not exceed their recoverable value.

3.9 – Intangible assets

Intangible assets include licenses, customer relationships, customer contracts, non-compete agreements, platforms and 
cryptocurrencies. The accounting policies for the recognition and measurement of these intangible assets are described below.

3.9.1 – Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful life that are acquired separately (licenses) are carried at cost less accumulated amortization 
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis over the intangible assets estimated 
useful lives. The estimated useful lives and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with 
the effect of any changes in estimates being accounted for on a prospective basis.

3.9.1.1 - Cryptocurrencies

The Company accounts for its crypto assets as indefinite-lived intangible assets in accordance with IAS 38 "Intangible Assets". 
Bitcoin, Ethereum and Stable Coin are cryptocurrencies that are considered to be an indefinite lived intangible asset because 
they lack physical form and there is no limit to its useful life, they are not subject to amortization but they are tested for 
impairment.

The Company's crypto assets are initially recorded at cost. Subsequently, they are measured at cost, net of any impairment 
losses incurred since acquisition. The Company performs monthly analysis to identify possible impairment. If the carrying 
value of the crypto asset exceeds the fair value based on the quoted price in the active exchange market, the Company will 
recognize an impairment loss equal to the difference between the fair value and the book value in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. Gains, if any, will not be recognized until realized upon sale in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. Further details are disclosed in note 16. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has 
recognized a gain of 822 as reversal of impairment and a loss of 1,017 as impairment, respectively.

3.9.2 – Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination (customer relationships, customer contracts, non-compete agreements, 
software and platforms) are recognized separately from goodwill and are initially recognized at their fair value at the acquisition 
date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses if any, on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.

3.9.3 – Internally-generated intangible assets

Intangible assets arising from development are recognized if, and only if, all the following have been demonstrated: 
- the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
- the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
- the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
- how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
- the ability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible 
asset, and
- the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognized for internally-generated assets is the sum of expenditure incurred (including employee costs 
and an appropriate proportion of overheads) from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed 
above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognized, development expenditure is recognized in profit or 
loss in the period in which it is incurred.
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Capitalized intangible assets are amortized from the point at which the asset is ready for use. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as 
intangible assets that are acquired separately. Costs associated with maintaining software programs are recognized as an 
expense as incurred. 

3.9.4 – Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains 
or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset, and are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized. As of December 31, 2023 and 
2022, the Company has derecognized intangible assets for an amount of 560 and 1,531, respectively. 

3.10 – Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit or the business, as the case may be.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not 
been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in the statement of comprehensive income for 
the year. 

As of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 the Company did not recognize impairments related to internally-generated 
intangible assets. 

3.11 – Contingent liabilities

The Company has existing or potential claims, lawsuits and other proceedings. Provisions are recognized when the Company 
has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to 
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the 
balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation, and the advice of the Company’s 
legal advisors.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the 
receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable 
can be measured reliably. The amount of the recognized receivable does not exceed the amount of the provision recorded.

3.12 – Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: (i) amortized cost (ii) fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI) or (iii) fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The classification of financial assets is 
generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics.
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3.12.1 – Amortized cost and effective interest method

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met, and if it is not designated as at 
FVPL:

- It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flow;
- Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal amount outstanding.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of an instrument and of allocating interest income 
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all 
fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) through the expected life of the instrument, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition. 

3.12.2 – Financial assets measured at FVOCI

A financial asset is measured at FVOCI if both of the following conditions are met, and if it is not designated as at FVPL:
- It is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 

financial assets
- Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal amount outstanding

The change in fair value of financial assets measured at FVOCI is accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve until they 
are derecognized. When a financial asset measured at FVOCI is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. 
  
3.12.3 – Financial assets measured at FVPL
 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described above, are measured at FVPL. 
 
Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized in profit or 
loss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the ‘Other financial results, net’ line.

3.12.4 - Derivative financial instruments
 
The Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts and swaps. Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the 
date the derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured to fair value at the end of each reporting period. 
The resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a 
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge 
relationship. 

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognized as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is 
recognized as a financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements unless the Company has both a legally 
enforceable right and intention to offset. The impact of the futures and forward contracts on the Company’s financial position is 
disclosed in note 29. A derivative is presented as a non–current asset or a non–current liability if the remaining maturity of the 
instrument is more than 12 months and it is not due to be realized or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented 
as current assets or current liabilities. 

The Company designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk in cash flow hedges. 
Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges. 

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Company documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the 
hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. 
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Company documents whether the hedging instrument is 
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effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, which is when the 
hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements: 
- there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument; 
- the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and 
- the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Company 
actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Company actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged 
item. 

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management 
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Company adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging 
relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again. 

The Company designates the full change in the fair value of a forward contract (i.e. including the forward elements) as the 
hedging instrument for all of its hedging relationships involving forward contracts. 

Movements in the hedging reserve in equity are detailed in note 30.3.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other qualifying hedging instruments that are designated 
and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of cash flow 
hedging reserve, limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item from inception of the hedge. The gain or loss 
relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the ‘Other financial results, net’ 
line item.  Amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit 
or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognized hedged item. 

The Company discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet the 
qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. Any gain or loss recognized in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in cash flow hedge reserve at that time remains in equity and is reclassified to profit or 
loss when the forecast transaction occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss 
accumulated in cash flow hedge reserve is reclassified immediately to profit or loss.

3.12.5 - Investment in associates 
 
An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. 
 
The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method of accounting. Under the equity method, an investment in associate is initially recognized in the consolidated statement 
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Company’s share of the profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of the associate. 

3.12.6 – Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets, other than those at FVTPL. The 
amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the 
respective financial instrument. 
 
The Company always recognizes lifetime expected credit losses ("ECL") for trade receivables, using a simplified approach. The 
expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Company’s historical credit 
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the 
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.  

For all other financial instruments, the Company recognizes lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Company measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. 
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Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a contractual payment, 
unless the Company has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise. 

Definition of default

A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 90 days of when they fall due, 
unless an entity has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more 
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows 
of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about the 
following events: 
a. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
b. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
c. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having 
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
d. it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;
e. the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
f. the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event-instead, the combined effect of several events may have caused 
financial assets to become credit-impaired.

Write-off policy 

Financial assets' carrying amounts are reduced through the use of an allowance account on a case-by-case basis. When a 
financial asset is considered uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are 
recognized in profit and loss. 

 Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses 

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default and the exposure at 
default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data, adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. The exposure of default is represented by the asset's gross carrying amount at the 
reporting date.  

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the 
days past due. Financial assets other than trade receivables, have been grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows.  

No significant changes to estimation techniques or assumptions were made during the reporting period.
 
3.12.7 – Derecognition of financial assets
 
The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it 
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Company recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to 
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pay. If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Company 
continues to recognize the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received. 
 
As of December 31, 2022 the Company incurred in a collection in advance benefit that some clients offer with JP Morgan for a 
total amount of 2,594. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has no collections in advance benefits with JP Morgan. The 
Company considers that it has substantially transferred the risks and rewards intrinsic to these receivables to the bank and 
therefore they were derecognized.   

3.12.8 – Convertible Notes

The Company recognizes convertible notes measured at their fair value using the market approach which consist in using price 
and relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets, liabilities or group of assets 
and liabilities, such as a business. 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the fair value of the loan agreement amounted to 3,359 and 2,491 disclosed as other 
financial assets current, respectively, and 5,751 and 4,193 disclosed as other financial assets non-current, respectively. 

3.12.8.1 Convertible notes - Globant España

As of December 31, 2023, Globant España S.A, maintains 15 note purchase agreements with Fivvy Inc, Inipop LLC, Linked 
Ai, Polemix Inc, MessageLOUD, Inc., LookApp S.A.S, UALI Holding Limited, B2CHAT S.A.S, Avancargo Corp, Poderio 
S.A.S, Vozy, Inc and Drixit Technologies Inc. (the "startups"), pursuant to which Globant España S.A. provided financing 
facility for a total amount of 8,200. Interest on the entire outstanding principal balance is computed at annual rates ranging from 
2% to 8%. Globant España S.A. has the right to convert all or any portion of the outstanding principal into equity interests of 
the startups.

3.12.8.2 Convertible notes - Sistemas Globales

As of December 31, 2023, Sistemas Globales S.A. maintains, since its merger with Globant Ventures SAS, 5 note purchase 
agreements with Interactive Mobile Media S.A. (CamonApp), AvanCargo Corp., TheEye S.A.S., Robin and Woolabs S.A. (the 
"startups"), pursuant to which Sistemas Globales S.A. provided financing facility for a total amount of 910. Interest on the 
entire outstanding principal balance is computed at annual rates ranging from 5% to 12%. Sistemas Globales S.A. has the right 
to convert all or any portion of the outstanding principal into equity interests of the startups. 

3.12.9 – Equity Instruments

The Company recognizes equity instruments measured at their fair value using the market approach which consist in using price 
and relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets, liabilities or group of assets 
and liabilities, such as a business.
As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the fair value of equity instruments amounted to 28,743 and 27,521 disclosed as other 
financial assets non-current and 611 and 371 disclosed as other financial assets current.

3.13 – Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Company
 
3.13.1 – Classification as debt or equity
 
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Company and its subsidiaries are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity 
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 
instrument. 
 
3.13.2 – Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 
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Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognized and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is 
recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments. 

3.13.3 – Financial liabilities
 
Financial liabilities, including trade payables, other liabilities and borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of 
transaction costs. 

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense 
recognized on an effective yield basis. 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial 
recognition. 
 
Put option over non-controlling interest in subsidiary
On July 8, 2021 the Company entered into a put and call option agreement with the non-controlling shareholders over the 
remaining twenty percent (20%) over Walmeric Soluciones, S.L., which can be exercised by the non-controlling shareholders 
from March 1, 2022 till March 1, 2024. The Company did not recognized the call option since it was immaterial. 

During 2022 the sellers of Walmeric exercised their put option for the 6% over the non-controlling interest for a total 
consideration of 5,166.

On March 16, 2023, Software Product Creation, S.L. (the "Majority Shareholder") with Internet Business Intelligent Insite, S.L. 
and Next Generation Communication Services (jointly referred to as the "the Sellers"), entered into a new agreement pursuant 
to which the parties agree to transfer the remaining shares (the 14% of non-controlling interest) for a cash payment equal to the 
value of the Put Option of the year 2023 plus a contingent consideration to be determined based on the terms of the Put Option 
of the year 2024, which is subject to the achievement of financial targets for the year 2023. The result for the transaction 
amounted to 1,589 and is disclosed in Other income and expenses, net line item.  

On October 19, 2023, Globant España entered into a Put and Call option agreement (the "Option Agreement") with the equity 
holders of the remaining forty per cent (40%) of the issued and outstanding equity interest of GUT UK (the "Selling 
Shareholders" and the "Option Shares", respectively), with the purpose of setting out the terms and conditions whereby: (i) a 
put option over the Option Shares to be granted by Globant España in favor of the Selling Shareholders; and (ii) a call option 
over the Option Shares to be granted by the Selling Shareholders in favor of Globant España.

The Selling Shareholders and Globant España shall be entitled to acquire 10% of the equity interest in GUT UK upon exercise 
of each of the yearly (call or put, as applicable) options, under the following conditions and within the following calendar:

i. Subject to and based on the achievement of the 2023 financial targets, the 2023 put option or the 2023 call option may 
be exercised by the Selling Shareholders or Globant España, respectively, from March 1, 2024 to April 15, 2024 (the 
“2023 Yearly Option"); 

ii. Subject to and based on the achievement of the 2024 financial targets, the 2024 put option or the 2024 call option may 
be exercised by the Selling Shareholders or Globant España, respectively, from March 1, 2025 to April 15, 2025 (the 
“2024 Yearly Option”); 

iii. Subject to and based on the achievement of the 2025 financial targets, the 2025 put option or the 2025 call option may 
be exercised by the Selling Shareholders or Globant España, respectively, from March 1, 2026 to April 15, 2026 (the 
“2025 Yearly Option”); and

iv. Subject to and based on the achievement of the 2026 Targets, the 2026 put option or the 2026 call option may be 
exercised by the Selling Shareholders or Globant España, respectively, from March 1, 2027 to April 15, 2027 (the 
“2026 Yearly Option”).
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The amount that may become payable under the option on exercise is initially recognized at the present value of the redemption 
amount within other financial liabilities with a corresponding charge directly to equity. The charge to equity is recognized 
separately as written put options over non-controlling interests.

The liability is subsequently accreted through finance charges up to the redemption amount that is payable at the date at which 
the option first becomes exercisable. In the event that the option expires unexercised, the liability is derecognised with a 
corresponding adjustment to equity.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has recognized as current and non-current other financial liabilities the written put 
option for an amount 13,006 and 62,807, respectively, equal to the present value of the redemption amount. As of December 31, 
2022, the Company has recognized as current and non-current other financial liabilities the written put option for an amount 
3,871 and 5,515, respectively, equal to the present value of the redemption amount. Changes in the measurement of the gross 
obligation will be recognized in the statements of changes in equity.

3.13.4 – Derecognition of financial liabilities
 
The Company derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and 
payable is recognized in profit or loss.  
 
3.14 – Cash and cash equivalents
 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks and short-term 
highly liquid investments (original maturity of less than 90 days). In the consolidated statements of financial position, bank 
overdrafts are included in borrowings within current liabilities. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the statement of cash flows only includes cash and bank balances and time deposits as 
disclosed in note 11.  
 
3.15 – Reimbursable expenses
 
Out-of-pocket and travel expenses are recognized as expense in the statements of comprehensive income in the year they are 
incurred. Reimbursable expenses are billed to customers and presented within the line item "Revenues" in the statements of 
comprehensive income for the year. 

3.16 - Share-based and cash-settle compensation plan
 
The Company has a share-based and cash-settle compensation plan for executives and employees of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. Equity-settled share-based and cash-settle payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based and cash-settle 
transactions are set forth in note 25.
 
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is recognized to spread the fair value of 
each award over the vesting period on a straight-line basis, based on the Company’s estimate of equity instruments that will 
potentially vest, with a corresponding increase in equity. Cash-settle are recorded as liabilities and adjusted to fair value at the 
end of each reporting period.

3.17 – Components of other comprehensive income
 
Components of other comprehensive income are items of income and expense that are not recognized in profit or loss as 
required or permitted by other IFRSs. The Company included gains and losses arising from translating the financial statements 
of a foreign operation, the gains and losses related to the valuation of the financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income and the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives hedging instruments that are 
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges. 
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3.18 – Gain on transactions with bonds

During the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company's Argentine subsidiaries, through cash received from 
intercompany loans and repayments of intercompany loans, acquired Argentine sovereign bonds in the U.S. market 
denominated in U.S. dollars.   

After acquiring these bonds, the Company's Argentine subsidiaries sold those bonds in the Argentine market. The fair value of 
these bonds in the Argentine market (in Argentine pesos) during the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was higher than 
its quoted price in the U.S. market (in U.S dollars) converted at the official exchange rate prevailing in Argentina, which is the 
rate used to convert these transactions in foreign currency into the Company's Argentine subsidiaries' functional currency, thus, 
as a result, the Company recognized a gain when remeasuring the fair value of the bonds in Argentine pesos into U.S. dollars at 
the official exchange rate prevailing in Argentina.  

During the year ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded a gain amounting to 9,157, 13,883 and 708, 
respectively, due to the above mentioned transactions that were disclosed under the caption "Other financial results, net" in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.  

NOTE 4 – CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
 
In the application of the Company's accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the Company's management is required 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized 
in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year or in the year of the revision and future years if 
the revision affects both current and future years. 
 
The critical accounting estimates concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting year that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next year are the following:

1. Income taxes
 
Determining the consolidated provision for income tax expenses, deferred income tax assets and liabilities requires 
judgment. The provision for income taxes is calculated over the net income of the company and is inclusive of federal, 
local and state taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences in 
each of the jurisdictions where the Company operates of temporary differences between the financial statement 
carrying amounts and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates 
expected to apply to taxable income in the year in which the temporary differences are expected to be reversed. 
Changes to enacted tax rates would result in either increases or decreases in the provision for income taxes in the 
period of changes. 

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the benefit of part or all of the 
deferred tax assets to be utilized. This assessment requires judgments, estimates and assumptions by management. In 
evaluating the Company's ability to utilize its deferred tax assets, the Company considers all available positive and 
negative evidence, including the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over the 
periods in which the deferred tax assets are recoverable. The Company's judgments regarding future taxable income 
are based on expectations of market conditions and other facts and circumstances. Any adverse change to the 
underlying facts or the Company's estimates and assumptions could require that the Company reduces the carrying 
amount of its net deferred tax assets. 

The Company evaluates the uncertain tax treatment, such determination requires the use of significant judgment in 
evaluating the tax treatments and assessing the timing and amounts of deductible and taxable items, see note 3.7.1.3. 
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2. Impairment of trade receivables
 

The Company measures ECL using reasonable and supportable forward looking information, which is based on 
assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each other. Loss 
given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash 
flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive.  

Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood 
of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of 
future conditions.  

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded an impairment for an amount of 18,808, 6,364 
and 5,323, respectively, using a provision matrix based on the Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted 
for factors that are specific to debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as 
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.   

3. Fair value measurement and valuation processes
 

Certain assets and liabilities of the Company are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. 

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses market-observable data to the extent it is 
available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Company estimates the fair value of an asset or a liability by 
converting future amounts (e.g. cash flows or income and expenses) to a single current (i.e. discounted) amount. 
Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of various assets and 
liabilities are disclosed in note 29.8.

4. Contingent Liabilities
 
Provisions are recognized according to the following conditions: (i) the Company has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event; (ii) it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation; 
and (iii) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.   

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material). 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, a receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount 
of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

5. Purchase price allocation 

The acquisition method of accounting is use to account for all acquisitions. Under this method, assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed of the Company are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating the fair 
value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 
inputs are not available, the Company estimates the fair value of an asset or a liability by converting future amounts 
(e.g. cash flows or income and expenses) to a single current (i.e. discounted) amount. Information about the valuation 
techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of various assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 29.8.

Fair value is estimated by management using a multi-period excess earnings method for customer relationships. 
Management’s cash flow projections for the intangible assets acquired included significant judgments and assumptions 
relating to revenue growth rates, customer attrition rates, and discount rates for customer relationships.
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(1) As part of the acquisition of Grupo ASSA and Pentalog, the sellers agreed to indemnify the Company for the outcome of 
certain contingencies. As a result, the Company has recognized an indemnification asset for a total amount of 10,067 and 6,071, 
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The consideration for these acquisitions includes 19,664 and 9,398 as of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively which is subject to adjustments, deductions and withholdings related to the 
indemnified contingencies. Consequently, the Company has off-set the indemnification asset against the amount payable to the 
sellers. 

18.1 Equity Instruments

Digital House investment

On December 31, 2020, Globant España S.A. entered into a share purchase agreement along side other two partners to acquire 
between the three of them 614,251 shares of Digital House Group Ltd, which 204,750 correspond to Globant España S.A, such 
amount was acquired for 9,167. On April 22, 2021, the Company entered into a subscription agreement pursuant to which the 
investors sell their participation in Acamica in exchange for an increase in Digital House's investment for 5,848. On September 
30, 2021, the Company paid an additional 862. On July 7, 2022, the Company paid an additional 4,148, increasing it's 
investment to 17.2%. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has a 17.2%  equity interest on Digital House, and the amount 
disclosed is  20,502  as other financial assets non-current. 

As of December 31, 2023,and 2022  the Company recognized a loss of  2,372 and a gain 2,850, respectively, included in the 
line item "Net change in fair value on financial assets measured at FVOCI".

ELSA investment

On January 15, 2021, Globant España, signed a stock purchase agreement and acquired 4% of ELSA, Corp., for 2,700.On June 
21, 2023, the Company paid and additional 1,130, increasing it's investment to 4.3%

As of December 31, 2023, and  2022 the Company recognized a gain of  2,640 and a loss of 2,047, respectively included in the 
line item "Net change in fair value on financial assets measured at FVOCI"

V.U investment

On April, 23, 2021, Globant España, signed a stock purchase agreement and acquired 3% of VU Inc., for 2,200.On September 
18, 2023, the Company paid additional 618, increasing it´s investment to 3.1%. 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company recognized a loss of  220 included in the line item "Net change in fair value on 
financial assets measured at FVOCI"

Singularity investment

On July 8, 2019 ("issuance date"), Globant España S.A. and Singularity Education Group, agreed into a note purchase 
agreement whereby Globant España S.A. provides financing facility for 1,250. Interest on the entire outstanding principal 
balance is computed at an annual rate of 5%. Singularity Education Group shall repay the loan in full within 1 year from the 
effective date. Globant España S.A has the right to convert any portion of the outstanding principal into Conversion Shares of 
Singularity Education Group. 

On August 27, 2020 Globant España S.A decided to convert all the outstanding principal into shares as mentioned in the 
previous note purchase agreement, Singularity Education Group issued through purchase conversion 10,655,788 shares at 
$0.1231 per share for a total amount of 1,311, such amount is disclosed as other financial asset non-current.  

As of December 31, 2022, the Company recognized a loss of 555 included in the line item "Net change in fair value on 
financial assets measured at FVOCI". As of December 31, 2023, the Company did not recognize any remeasurement in other 
comprehensive income.
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LLC’s now owned and after-acquired assets. The A&R Credit Agreement contained certain customary negative and affirmative 
covenants. 

On February 6, 2020, Globant, LLC, our US subsidiary (the "Borrower"), entered into a Second Amended and Restated Credit 
Agreement (the “Second A&R Credit Agreement”), by and among certain financial institutions listed therein, as lenders, and 
HSBC Bank USA, National Association, as administrative agent, issuing bank and swingline lender. Under the Second A&R 
Credit Agreement, which amends and restates the existing A&R Credit Agreement dated as of November 1, 2018, the Borrower 
may borrow (i) up to $100 million in up to four borrowings on or prior to August 6, 2021 under a delayed-draw term loan 
facility and (ii) up to $250 million under a revolving credit facility. In addition, the Borrower may request increases of the 
maximum amount available under the revolving facility in an aggregate amount not to exceed $100 million. The maturity date 
of each of the facilities is February 5, 2025. Pursuant to the terms of the Second A&R Credit Agreement, interest on the loans 
extended thereunder shall accrue at a rate per annum equal to either (i) LIBOR plus 1.50%, or (ii) LIBOR plus 1.75%, 
determined based on the Borrower’s Maximum Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Second A&R Credit Agreement). The 
Borrower’s obligations under the Second A&R Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the Company and its subsidiary Globant 
España S.A., and are secured by substantially all of the Borrower’s now owned and after-acquired assets. The Seconds A&R 
Credit Agreement principally contains the following covenants: delivery of certain financial information; payment of 
obligations, including tax liabilities; use of proceeds only for transaction costs payments, for lawful general corporate purposes 
and working capital; Globant, LLC's Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio shall not be less than 1.25 to 1.00; Globant, LLC's 
Maximum Total Leverage Ratio shall not exceed 3.00 to 1.00; Globant, LLC or any of its subsidiaries shall not  incur in any 
indebtedness, except for the ones detailed in the agreement; Globant, LLC or any of its subsidiaries shall not assume any Lien; 
advances to officers, directors and employees of the Borrower and Subsidiaries in an aggregate amount not to exceed 50 
outstanding at any time; restricted payments not to exceed 10,000 per year; Globant, LLC shall not maintain intercompany 
payables owed to any of its Argentina Affiliates except to the extent (i) such payables are originated in transactions made in the 
ordinary course of business  and (ii) the aggregate amount of such payables do not exceed an amount equal to five times the 
average monthly amount of such Affiliates’ billings for the immediately preceding 12 month period; Globant, LLC's capital 
expenditures limited to 10% the Company's consolidated net revenue per year and Globant, LLC's annual revenue is to remain 
at no less than  60% of the Company's consolidated annual revenue; among others.

On June 2, 2022 the Company signed an amendment and restated the credit agreement with HSBC, pursuant to which the 
LIBOR rate was replaced by a Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") plus 0.10%.

On May 31, 2023, Globant, LLC (the “Borrower”), the U.S. subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Fourth Amended and 
Restated Credit Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with HSBC Bank USA, N.A. as administrative agent, issuing bank and 
swingline lender and certain financial institutions listed therein as lenders.Under the Credit Agreement, the Borrower may 
borrow up to $725 million under a revolving credit facility. In addition, the Borrower may request increases of the maximum 
amount available under the revolving facility, and may request term loan tranches, in an aggregate amount not to exceed $350 
million plus additional amounts, so long as the Maximum Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) does not 
exceed 3.00 to 1.00 after giving effect thereto. The maturity date of each loan is May 30, 2028. Interest on the loans will accrue 
at a rate per annum equal to either (i) SOFR plus 0.10% plus between 1.25% and 1.875%, or (ii) the Alternate Base Rate (as 
defined in the Credit Agreement) plus between 0.25% and 0.875%, at the option of the Borrower. Undrawn commitment under 
the revolving credit facility are subject to a commitment fee at a rate per annum of 0.15% to 0.25%.  The applicable margin and 
the commitment fee rate will be determined quarterly based upon the Maximum Net Leverage Ratio. The Borrower’s 
obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the Company, its subsidiary, Globant España S.A., and the 
Borrower’s subsidiary Globant IT Services Corp. (the “Subsidiary Guarantor”), and are secured by substantially all of the 
Borrower’s and the Subsidiary Guarantor’s now owned and after-acquired assets. The Credit Agreement also contains certain 
customary negative and affirmative covenants, which compliance may limit the flexibility of the Company in operating its 
business and its ability to take actions that might be advantageous to the Company and its shareholders.  The Borrower is 
required to comply with two financial maintenance covenants, which are tested quarterly: (i) a minimum interest coverage ratio 
of 3.00 to 1.00 and (ii) a Maximum Net Leverage Ratio of 3.50 to 1.00.
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The Company estimated the following assumptions for the calculation of the fair value of the awards:

Fair value of the shares: For the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, the fair value of the shares is based on the quoted market price of 
the Company's shares at the grant date.

Expected volatility: The expected volatility of the Company's shares is calculated by using the average share price volatility of 
the Company since July 1, 2014 to the date of grant, excluding COVID-19 pandemic period from March 2020 to May 2020.

Expected term: The expected life of awards represents the period of time the granted awards are expected to be outstanding.

Risk free rate: The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the award is based on the U.S. Federal Treasury yield 
curve with maturities similar to the expected term of the awards.

25.5 Cash-settled share-based payments under 2014 Equity Incentive Plan

On December 1, 2021, our Compensation Committee approved the granting of awards in the form of Stock-Equivalent Units to 
be settled in cash or common shares ("SEUs Plan"), or a combination thereof, under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan. The 
purpose of the SEUs Plan is to provide an incentive to attract, retain and reward talent in the IT industry and to prompt such 
persons to contribute to the growth and profitability of the Company. The SEUs Plan provides all eligible employees the 
opportunity of receiving a grant of SEUs with a unit value equal to the market value of one common share of the Company, to 
be settled in cash or common shares of the Company. 

As of  December 31, 2022, the Company has granted 61,072 stock equivalent units. As of December 31, 2023 no stock 
equivalent unit has been granted.

NOTE 26 – BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
 
26.1 Business combinations 2023

On April 20, 2023, Globant, S.A. (the "Company"), through its subsidiary Globant, LLC, entered into an Equity Purchase 
Agreement (the "Agreement") with the equity holders of ExperienceIT LLC ("ExperienceIT"), an American limited liability 
company pursuant to which the Company purchased all of the outstanding interest. The transaction was simultaneously signed 
and closed. ExperienceIT's business consists in the provision of advisory services and training in connection with end-to-end 
digital transformation projects related to, among other things, customer service experience, M&A integration, IT integration and 
digital optimization.

On May 6, 2023, Globant, S.A. (the "Company"), through its subsidiary Globant España S.A., entered into an Equity Purchase 
Agreement (the "Agreement") with the equity holders of Pentalog France, société par actions simplifiée, a French corporation 
and its subsidiaries, Pentalog HR SASU, a French corporation, Pentalog Deutschland GmbH, a German corporation, Pentalog 
Vietnam Co. Ltd., a Vietnamese corporation, Pentalog Chi S.R.L., a Moldovan corporation, Pentalog Romania SRL, a 
Romanian corporation, Pentalog HR Romania SRL a Romanian corporation, Pentalog Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V., a Mexican 
corporation, Pentalog Americas LLC, an American corporation, Pentalog UK Ltd, a British corporation, and Python Bidco, a 
French corporation, all together referred to as "Pentalog", pursuant to which the Company purchased all of the outstanding 
interest. The transaction was signed on May 6, 2023 and the closing date was on July 20, 2023. Pentalog business consists on 
the provision of outsourced digital services to third-parties, including the design, development and scaling of custom software 
solutions, and the management of a digital platform designed to onboard software developers, professionally vet them and 
provide their services to customers.

On August 3, 2023, Globant, S.A. (the "Company"), through its subsidiary Sysdata S.p.A, entered into an Asset and Business 
Purchase Agreement (the "Agreement") with the equity holders of Chili S.p.A and Chili Tech S.r.l., Italian companies pursuant 
to which the Company purchased all of the outstanding interest. The transaction was simultaneously signed and closed. The 
assets include, among others, a Technology Services and Solutions Agreement for FIFA+ entered into by and between the 
Sellers, as services providers, and FIFA, as client, dated March 21, 2023, as well as certain third-party agreement entered into 
by Wurl LLC and Chili on February 14, 2022, selected employees, certain technological assets necessary or convenient to carry 
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• The amounts recognized as of the acquisition date for each major class of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, the total 
amount of goodwill (including a qualitative description of the factors that make up the goodwill recognized and the amount of 
goodwill that will be deducted for tax purposes) and other intangibles, as applicable.

• The gross contractual amounts of the acquired receivables, and the best estimate at the acquisition date of the contractual cash 
flows not expected to be collected. For each contingent liability to be recognized, if any, an estimate of its financial effect, an 
indication of the uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of any outflow and the possibility of any reimbursement, and the 
reasons why the liability cannot be measured reliably, if applicable.

• The amount of revenues and profit or loss of the acquired subsidiaries since the acquisition date, and the amount of revenues 
and profit or loss of the combined entity as if the acquisition has been made at the beginning of the reporting period, since the 
acquired subsidiaries did not have available financial information prepared under IFRS at the acquisition date. The preparation 
of this information under IFRS has not been completed as of the date of issuance of these financial statements.

• The amount of the non–controlling interest in the acquired companies recognized at the acquisition date.

26.1.1 Non-controlling Interest Acquisition

During 2023  the Company made some individually immaterial acquisitions which were completed primarily to expand our 
services and solutions offerings. 

On July 8, 2021 Software Product Creation, S.L. (the "Majority Shareholder") and Globant, S.A., with Internet Business 
Intelligent Insite, S.L. and Next Generation Communication Services, S.L. (jointly referred to as the "Minority Shareholder") 
entered into a put and call option agreement over the remaining twenty percent (20%) of Walmeric Soluciones, S.L (the 
"Option shares"), with the purpose to set out the terms and  conditions of: (i) a put option over the Option Shares to be granted 
by Software Product Creation, S.L. in favor of the Minority Shareholders; and (ii) a call option over the Option Shares to be 
granted by the Minority Shareholders in favor of Software Product Creation, S.L., which can be exercised by the non-
controlling shareholders from March 1, 2022 till March 1, 2024.

On July 8, 2021 the Company recognized in equity a put option over non-controlling interest of Walmeric for 16,285.

On March 30, 2022 the company exercise the call/put option of the year 2022 of the  6% over the non-controlling interest of 
Walmeric, leaving a non-controlling interest for the 14%

As of December 31, 2022, the Company has recognized as current and non-current other financial liabilities the written put 
option for an amount 3,871 and 5,515, respectively, equal to the present value of the redemption amount.

On March 16, 2023, Software Product Creation, S.L. (the "Majority Shareholder") with Internet Business Intelligent Insite, S.L. 
and Next Generation Communication Services (jointly referred to as the "the Sellers"), entered into a new agreement pursuant 
to which the Sellers agree to: (i) sell and transfer the remaining shares; (ii) terminate the Shareholders Agreement and the Put 
and Call Option Agreement, and (iii) the regulation of certain covenants undertaken by the Parties. 

With such agreement, the parties agree to transfer the remaining shares (the 14% of non-controlling interest) for a cash payment 
equal to the value of the Put Option of the year 2023 plus a contingent consideration to be determined based on the terms of the 
Put Option of the year 2024, which is subject to the achievement of financial targets for the year 2023. The result for the 
transaction amounted to 1,589 and is disclosed in Other income and expenses, net line item. 

26.2 - Purchase Price Allocation

As of December 31, 2023, the fair values of the assets acquired, liabilities assumed and goodwill amounted to 174,029, 116,195 
and 401,164, respectively, from which certain acquisitions are determined on preliminary basis and amounted to 77,722, 54,261 
and 195,137, respectively,  determined at the date of acquisition in the business combinations.

As of December 31, 2022, the fair values of the assets acquired, liabilities assumed and goodwill amounted to 186,540, 57,679 
and 184,036, respectively, determined at the date of acquisition in the business combinations. 
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salaries payable in the local currency of each country The Company designated those derivatives as hedging instruments in 
respect of foreign currency risk in cash flow hedges. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for 
as cash flow hedges.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other qualifying hedging instruments that are designated 
and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of cash flow 
hedging reserve, limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item from inception of the hedge. The gain or loss 
relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the ‘finance income’ or ‘finance 
expense’ line items. Amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified 
to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognized hedged item (i.e. 
Salaries, employee benefits and social security taxes). 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has recognized a net gain of 21,997  and during the years ended December 31, 2022 
and 2021, the Company has recognized a net loss of  2,332 and 136, respectively, included in Salaries, employee benefits and 
social security taxes and a net gain of 6,604, gain of 1,305 and a net loss of 131, respectively, included in other comprehensive 
income. 

During 2020, Globant, LLC entered into four interest rate swap transactions with the purpose of hedging the exposure to 
variable interest rate related to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with certain financial institutions. By the end of 
that year the Company chose to discontinue three of the four interest rate swap transaction. During the year ended December 
31, 2021, the Company chose to discontinue the remaining interest rate swap since the hedged future cash flows were no longer 
expected to occur. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized a loss of 255 and a gain of 132, respectively, 
included in the line item "Other comprehensive income". The Company designated those derivatives as hedging instruments in 
respect of interest rate risk in cash flow hedges. Hedges of interest rate risk on recognized liabilities are accounted for as cash 
flow hedges.

Foreign currency forward contract and interest rate swap assets and liabilities are presented in the line ‘Other financial assets’ 
and ‘Other financial liabilities’ within the statement of financial position.

The following table detail the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2023:
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As at December 31, 2023, the statutory reserves of the following entities are not yet fully integrated: IAFH Globant Mexico IT 
S. de R.L. de C.V., Globant Peru S.A.C., Software Product Creation S.L. and Sport Reinvention Entertainment Group S.L.

Pursuant to its pertaining by-laws, Sistemas Colombia S.A.S. and Procesalab S.A.S. must allocate at least 10% of the net 
income of the year to a special reserve until such reserve equals 50% of its share capital; Globant Arabia Ltd. must allocate at 
least 10% of the net profits of the year to a special reserve until such reserve equals 30% of its share capital; and Pentalog 
Vietnam Company Ltd. must allocate the following percentages of its annual profits after payment of its financial obligations 
with relevant authorities, to the following special reserves: 5% until reaching 10% of its share capital to a supplemental charter 
capital; 5% to a business development special reserve, and 5% to a bonus and welfare special reserve.

NOTE 32  – OTHER EVENTS

32.1 Cybersecurity Event

On March 28th, 2022, the Company detected an unauthorized access to certain source code and project-related documentation 
for certain clients, as well as certain data files. As soon as such access was detected, the Company activated its security 
protocols and began conducting an exhaustive investigation. While we do not anticipate a significant adverse economic impact 
resulting from the incident, as of the date of issuance of these consolidated financial statements, there is still some level of 
uncertainty.

NOTE 33  – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
The Company has evaluated subsequent events until March 26, 2024, date of approval of these consolidated financial 
statements, to assess the need for potential adjustments or disclosures in these consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with IAS 10 "Events after the reporting period". The Company doesn't have any subsequent events to report. 

NOTE 34 – APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
The Consolidated Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors on March 26, 2024. 

 
 

Martín Migoya
President 
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